WH0/IVB/04.09

Proceedings of the fourth Global Vaccine Research Forum

The Department of Vaccines and Biologicals thanks the donors whose unspecified financial support has made the production of this publication possible.

This publication was produced by the Initiative for Vaccine Research team of the Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals

> Ordering code: WHO/IVB/ 04.09 Printed: April 2004

This publication is available on the Internet at: www.who.int/vaccines-documents/

Copies may be requested from: World Health Organization Department of Vaccines and Biologicals CH-1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland • Fax: + 41 22 791 4227 • Email: vaccines@who.int •

© World Health Organization 2004

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from Marketing and Dissemination, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 791 2476; fax: +41 22 791 4857; email: bookorders@who.int). Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications – whether for sale or for noncommercial distribution – should be addressed to Publications, at the above address (fax: +41 22 791 4806; email: permissions@who.int).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

Contents

Ab	brevi	ations and acronyms v
Ac	know	ledgements
Pre	eface	ix
1.		gress towards vaccines against HIV/AIDS, malaria tuberculosis: overview and highlights
	1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5	Will blood-stage malaria vaccines be developedusing current strategies?Tuberculosis vaccines2AIDS: The Asian epidemiological situation3Results of the first AIDS vaccine efficacy trial4EDCTP: A new partnership to develop vaccinesagainst AIDS, TB and malaria5
2.	The	GAVI vaccine R&D projects
	2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8	Update on GAVI activities7Meningococcal vaccines8Rotavirus vaccines9Rotavirus Accelerated Development and Introduction Plan9Pneumococcal vaccines10Pneumococcal Accelerated Development and Introduction Plan11Agenda for GAVI technology R&D11The Measles Aerosol Project12
3.	Keynote address: strategy of the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation towards the prevention of infectious diseases	
4.	4. Regulatory and ethical issues in the development and introduction of new vaccines	
	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 	The ethics of vaccine clinical trials in paediatricpopulations of developing countries16Prequalification of new vaccines for global use17The EMEA perspective18The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) perspective19Perspective of the Korean NRA20

5.	. Cancer vaccines		. 21
	5.1	Epidemiology of Helicobacter pylori and gastric cancer	. 21
	5.2	Helicobacter pylori vaccines against gastric cancer	. 22
	5.3	Overview of prevalence of human papillomavirus (HPV)	
		infection – globally and in Thailand	. 23
	5.4	Clinical trials of HPV and cervical cancer vaccines	. 23
	5.5	Epidemiology of HCV and hepatocarcinoma	. 24
6.	Reg	ional diseases	. 26
	6.1	Live-attenuated dengue vaccine development at	
		Mahidol University	. 26
	6.2	The Paediatric Dengue Vaccine Initiative	
		Research and development of vaccines against typhoid fever	
		Research and development of vaccines against Japanese encephalitis	
		The importance of translational research in accelerating	
		JE vaccine introduction	. 30
7.	Dise	cussion and summary of the 2003 Global Vaccine Research Forum	. 32
8.	Ref	erences	. 35

Abbreviations and acronyms

ADIP	accelerated development and introduction plan
AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
CBER	Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research
CD8	marker of cytotoxic T lymphocytes
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (USA)
CpG	oligonucleotides rich in CpG motifs
CHO	Chinese Hamster Ovary cells
CPMP	Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products
CSP	P. falciparum circumsporozoite protein
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocytes
DC	developing country
DEN	dengue
DOMI	diseases of the most impoverished project
DTP	diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis (vaccine)
DTP3	three doses of DTP
DTwP	diphtheria-tetanus-wholecell pertussis (vaccine)
EDCTP	European and Developing Countries Clinical Trial Partnership
EMEA	European Medicines Evaluation Agency
EPI	Expanded Programme on Immunization
EU	European Union
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GAVI	Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization
GCP	good clinical practice
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor
GMP	good manufacturing practice
GSK	GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals
GVRF	Global Vaccine Research Forum
Hib	Haemophilus influenzae type b

HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HPV	human papillomavirus
HTP	Health Technology and Pharmaceuticals (WHO Cluster)
IgA	immunoglobulin A
IgG	immunoglobulin G
IVB	Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals (WHO)
IVI	International Vaccine Institute
IVR	Initiative for Vaccine Research
JE	Japanese encephalitis
KFDA	Korean Food and Drug Administration
MCH	major histocompatibility complex
MMV	Medicine for Malaria Venture
MVA	Modified Vaccinia Ankara (non replicative vaccinia virus strain)
MVI	Malaria Vaccine Initiative
MVP	Meningitis Vaccine Project
NRA	national regulatory authority
OPV	oral polio vaccine
PATH	Program for Appropriate Technology in Health (USA)
IPR	intellectual property rights
PS	polysaccharide
RTS,S	malaria vaccine candidate based on a fusion of CSP with hepatitis B surface antigen
TC	countries in transition
ТВ	tuberculosis
TDR	UNDP/World Bank/WHO Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases
ΤT	tetanus toxoid (vaccine)
UN	United Nations
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
USNIH	United States National Institutes of Health
Vero	green monkey kidney-derived cell line

Acknowledgements

Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization (GAVI) and the World Health Organization

Special thanks is given to the scientific organizing committee for assisting with the technical content of the meeting and to the GAVI and the Netherlands for providing their support.

Overall chairpersons:	Myron (Mike) Levine Ananda Nisalak
Secretariat and WHO IVR Secretariat:	Marie-Paule Kieny
Moderators/chairs:	John Clemens Mary Ann Lansang Punnee Pitisuttithum Daniel Tarantola Sutee Yoksan
Rapporteurs:	Thomas Cherian Saladin Osmanov Sonia Pagliusi Yuri Pervikov Duncan Steele
GAVI Secretariat representative:	Abdallah Bchir
GAVI R&D Task Force co-chairs:	Myron (Mike) Levine Rino Rapuoli*
Scientific Organizing Committee:	Fred Binka John Clemens Marie-Paule Kieny Rosanna Lagos Myron (Mike) Levine Punee Pitisuttithum Rino Rappuoli*

* Unable to attend.

Preface

Dr Daniel Tarantola, Director of WHO's Department of Vaccines and Biologicals (now renamed Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals (IVB)), and Dr Marie-Paule Kieny, Director of WHO's Initiative for Vaccine Research (IVR), warmly welcomed the participants and thanked them for attending this gathering of specialists in vaccine research and development. The third Global Vaccine Research Forum (GVRF) is the eighth meeting in a series previously referred to as the Montreux meetings, as well as the third joint WHO/GAVI (Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization) meeting on global vaccine research.

The broad objectives of the Forum were reviewed. These are:

- to provide an opportunity for GAVI partners to participate in shaping a global research and development agenda;
- to provide an overview of the activities of the GAVI Task Force on Research and Development;
- to analyse the current status of vaccine research and development against AIDS, malaria and tuberculosis;
- to identify opportunities for vaccine research and development within WHO/ IVR;
- to review new vaccine technologies;
- to review opportunities and bottlenecks in vaccine research, development and introduction as perceived by the vaccine industry.

It was noted that 2003 constituted a very important year for GAVI research and development activities. Indeed, the GAVI accelerated development and introduction plans (ADIPs) for pneumococcus and rotavirus vaccines had been finalized during the first half of the year, and the vaccine research and development (R&D) community greeted Drs Orin Levine and John Wecker as the newly appointed directors of these new and promising enterprises. In addition, a comprehensive review of the three new potential GAVI vaccine technology agendas had been completed under the auspices of the Research and Development Task Force. As these two critical milestones had been reached, it was explained that the GAVI R&D Task Force had fulfilled its mission and would therefore cease to exist after the July 2003 GAVI Board meeting. The GAVI R&D Task Force co-chairs heartily thanked their colleagues on the Task Force for outstanding contributions and the vaccine R&D community at large for their support.

Important developments in vaccine research and development had also occurred in WHO. Following the appointment of Dr J.W. Lee as the new Director-General of WHO, it was decided to move the Department of Vaccines and Biologicals and IVR to the Family and Community Health (FCH) cluster, under the leadership of Joy Phumaphi, previously Minister of Health in Botswana. In addition, the Initiative for Vaccine Research under the direction of Dr Marie-Paule Kieny had recently completed the review of its programme, disease priorities and *modus operandi* in order to optimize WHO activities in the field of vaccine R&D.

The 2003 GVRF also constituted a milestone as it was the first of this series of meetings to be held outside of the Geneva area. The meeting co-chairs thanked Dr John Clemens and the staff of the International Vaccine Institute (IVI) in Seoul for their participation in the organization of the conference and for allowing meeting participants to visit their newly inaugurated IVI facility.

Finally, the meeting co-chairs and secretariat wished all participants an interesting and productive meeting.

Х

1. Progress towards vaccines against HIV/AIDS, malaria and tuberculosis: overview and highlights

1.1 Will blood-stage malaria vaccines be developed using current strategies? (*Michael Good*)

The current approaches to the development of malaria vaccines are largely based on the use of "subunit" or recombinant proteins, the production of which is facilitated by availability of data on cloning and sequence of malaria genes, which has been generated over the past 20 years. However, the overall success to date has been quite modest.

Most of the current malaria vaccine strategies aim to duplicate natural immunity, which is known to be incomplete. A number of challenges and scientific unknowns have to be addressed to enable the rational design of candidate vaccines, including the following.

- Natural immunity against malaria infection is very slow to develop, if ever. Natural history studies clearly demonstrate that there is lack of naturally acquired sporozoite immunity in adult endemic populations.
- A number of immune mechanisms that could be implicated in interference or suppression of protective immune responses, e.g. inhibition of primary immune responses mediated by dendritic cells (DC), depletion of parasite-specific T-cells, interference of pre-existing antibodies with fine specificity of immune response to malaria antigens, as is the case with maternal antibody response that interferes with the immune response of a neonate.
- Additional challenges for vaccine development are also posed by extensive antigenic polymorphism in principal epitopes of the parasite, as well as poor immunogenicity of subunit proteins used as immunogens.

To address these challenges, it was proposed to promote a multi-stage approach, focusing on induction of immune responses to cryptic, more conserved determinants of potentially protective immune responses. One such approach was presented, which is based on the use of inactivated wholecell ("killed") vaccine. It has recently been shown that IL-12 or CpG (an IL-12-inducing adjuvant) could enhance immunogenicity of a whole inactivated preparation of the mouse parasite *P. chabaudi*. However, a large dose of an antigen was used in these experiments, making it highly impractical for human use. Further on, it was shown that naive human volunteers could be immunized with a low dose of parasite-infected red blood cells containing approximately 30 parasites. The ultra-low dose is probably critical to prevent the occurrence of apoptosis of parasite-specific T-cells. The low-dose infection in the volunteers was treated after one week. Following three such immunizing infectious, three out of four volunteers were completely protected against challenge with infectious

parasites. Immune responses in vaccinees were characterized by a strong cell-mediated immune response and the absence of any antibody response. The results from these two studies initiated a proposal to develop a human malaria vaccine by using an ultra-low dose of killed *P. falciparum* (~10³ parasites equivalent), grown *in vitro* in human blood cells, and using adjuvants CpG and alum. Also, based on the evidence that live ultra-low dose infection can give rise to heterologous protection in a rodent model, it is anticipated that similar heterologous protection could be achieved in humans by targeting antigens that activate cell-mediated immunity and which are likely to be highly conserved.

1.2 Tuberculosis vaccines (Sang-Nae Cho)

The epidemiological data available to date demonstrate that the spread of tuberculosis (TB) is a global health emergency. By the year 2003, it is estimated that more than 30% of the global population will be infected with TB. The tuberculosis pandemic continues its spread at a rate of 8 million annual infections resulting in approximately 2.7 million deaths per year. In Korea, the TB epidemic follows similar global trends, where TB prevalence is maintained at a 30% level with an annual incidence of approximately 40 000 (or 80 cases per 100 000) and more than 3000 TB-related deaths every year. This continuous spread of the TB pandemic justifies a need for the accelerated development of safe, more effective and affordable vaccines and new therapeutic strategies.

The only currently available vaccine against tuberculosis was developed more than 100 years ago. Several variants of this vaccine based on different attenuated stains of *M. bovis* (BCG-Pasteur, Tokyo, GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals, Tice, etc.) are being used as part of childhood immunization programmes in many parts of the world, supported by WHO and UNICEF. Over the past years, BCG has been shown to be safe and inexpensive. However, it has been established that BCG vaccines are not able to prevent infection with wild type *M. tuberculosis* in children, although they are still effective in preventing meningitis and miliary TB in up to 80% of vaccinated children. Importantly, this protective efficacy can vary significantly in different geographical locations and different populations. There are additional safety concerns related to the use of BCG vaccines in populations with high prevalence of HIV.

A new generation of TB vaccines is presently under development, mostly targeting the induction of cell-mediated immunity by stimulation of CD4+/CD8+ T-cells. All the modern vaccination strategies are being explored, including recombinant BCG vaccines, recombinant subunit vaccines, DNA vaccines, attenuated *M. tuberculosis*, viral vectors and saprophytes, as well as combined vaccine approaches.

Several vaccine candidates have been shown to be effective in preventing virulent TB infection in animal models. Immunization using a recombinant BCG expressing Ag85B, as well as its combination with recombinant Ag85B protein, produced promising results by preventing infection in lungs and spleen, and increasing the survival time of vaccinated animals (1, 2, 3). Other vaccine approaches, based on DNA expression of Ag85, alone and in combination with a Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA) vector's expression of the same antigen, have also produced encouraging results in preventing TB infection in animal models (4, 5). Additional research is under way to modulate immunogenicity of candidate vaccines by addition of cytokines. Among these studies, evaluating adjuvant effects of granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-

CSF) on BCG-based vaccines and IL-12 on DNA vaccines are showing promising results (6, 7).

At least seven candidate TB vaccines and their combinations have entered human clinical trials and are aimed at replacing or improving existing vaccination and treatment strategies for TB. Attenuated *M. tuberculosis* and a combination of BCG+rAg85A have been proposed to replace BCG for vaccination in children. Several vaccine strategies, using either a live vaccinia vector expressing Ag85A, heat inactivated *M. vaccae* or fusion TB protein, are currently being evaluated for their capacity to prevent TB infection. Other vaccine approaches are aiming at boosting BCG efficacy in adults or enhancing TB chemotherapy efficacy (8).

The Korean TB vaccine research programme, under the responsibility of five national clinical research centres, is pursuing various types of vaccine approaches, including: recombinant BCG (Korean Institute of Tuberculosis); CFP & Triton-X soluble proteins (Choongnam University), DNA vaccines, adenovirus vector and IL-12 (Pohang University); DNA vaccines and cytokines (Seoul National University); gene "knock out" in mycobacteria (Youngnam University), peptides, recombinant proteins and recombinant BCG (Yonsei University).

1.3 AIDS: The Asian epidemiological situation (Swarup Sarkar)

The HIV/AIDS pandemic continues its accelerated spread. By the end of the year 2002, there were more than 42 million people living with HIV/AIDS. In 2002 alone there were 5 million new HIV infections and 3.1 million deaths due to HIV/AIDS. Despite well documented and successful HIV prevention programmes in a few countries, the epidemic in Asian and Pacific countries continues to steadily spread in the region and has contributed up to 7.2 million cases to the global number of HIV/AIDS cases. Over the past two years the situation has changed rapidly in several parts of the region, with annual incidence reaching close to one million new infections every year. The world's highest populated countries, such as China and India, are experiencing serious, localized epidemics affecting many millions of people, although the prevalence rate data look relatively small (approximately less than 1%) and do not provide a realistic picture of the situation.

The HIV/AIDS epidemic in the region is fuelled by high-risk factors and vulnerability of large populations with regard to HIV infection. Throughout the region, drug injection has become a leading cause of HIV transmission, resulting in high HIV prevalence. In some parts of India, Myanmar, Nepal, and Thailand, the HIV prevalence among injecting drug users is as high as 50%. High rates of needle sharing have been documented in Bangladesh and Viet Nam, which is also linked with commercial sex trade. Increasing prevalence rates have been documented among sex workers in China, Indonesia and Viet Nam.

Despite the sweeping epidemics in the region, the populations at large have minimum access to services provided by prevention and treatment programmes. In order to sustain and further strengthen national AIDS control programmes there is an increasing need for sustainable sources of high-level investment. The development of a safe, effective and affordable vaccine suitable for use in Asia and the Pacific will undoubtedly contribute to a solution of this health crisis in the region.

1.4 Results of the first AIDS vaccine efficacy trial (Don Francis)

The results from the first HIV vaccine efficacy trial with rgp120BB' (VaxGen) candidate vaccine in Canada, the Netherlands and the United States of America have recently been published. Prior to this efficacy trial, the rgp120-based candidate vaccines underwent intensive evaluation in all phases of preclinical studies, as well as in phase I and II human trials conducted mostly in the USA and Thailand. These studies demonstrated that the rgp120B candidate vaccines were able to protect chimpanzees from HIV infection. The subsequent phase I and II trials using a bivalent form (AIDSVAX B/B) of the candidate vaccine have also demonstrated its safety and immunogenicity.

The first HIV vaccine efficacy phase III trial was initiated in June 1998, using a bivalent rgp120BB'[MN+GNE8] candidate vaccine conjugated with alum. The trial had a multicentre, placebo-controlled, double-blind randomized (vaccine : placebo, 2 : 1) design. The trial enrolled 5417 volunteers from 61 sites in Canada, the Netherlands and the USA, including 5109 non drug-injecting men who have sex with men (MSM) and 308 women at heterosexual risk. The majority of men participating in the trial were white (86.3%) and women belonged mostly to the non-white population (70.5%). Immunization included seven doses given at 0, 1, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 30 months.

The results of this trial showed that the vaccine was well tolerated and induced specific humoral responses. It was demonstrated that the trial was well controlled and randomized and well conducted. No evidence was found for enhanced susceptibility to infection or increased progression to disease in vaccinees with concurrent HIV infections. Self-reported baseline risk behaviour correlated with infection rate: HIV infection occurred in 9.3% of 3006 volunteers with high-risk behaviour versus 3.7% of 2397 with lower risk.

The primary end-point for vaccine efficacy (VE) was defined as risk of HIV infection in vaccine recipients compared to risk in placebo recipients expressed as ([1-relative risk] x 100%). The secondary end-point in this trial was defined by reduction of viraemia in vaccinees or time to starting antiretroviral treatment in vaccinees as compared to the placebo group. The overall results of this trial did not demonstrate significant vaccine efficacy, which was calculated at 3.2% level. However, further subset analysis discovered that vaccine efficacy varied significantly in different race and gender groups, increasing to 50.6% in a "non-white" group, 77.6% in Afro-Americans and up to 86.5% in women. Also, estimates of vaccine efficacy, overall and within subgroups, were significantly higher in the higher risk group compared to lower risk. Multivariate analysis, controlling age, education, geographic region and risk behaviour, showed similar VE estimates.

A detailed analysis of data generated by this trial is under way, which aims to explain differences between different treatment arms, and examines both host and virus-related factors (levels of neutralizing antibodies, sieve analysis, etc.). Final analysis of these data may justify further research and clinical trials to confirm or clarify the indicative vaccine efficacy detected in this trial.

1.5 EDCTP: A new partnership to develop vaccines against AIDS, TB and malaria (*Fred Binka*)

HIV/AIDS, malaria and tuberculosis represent a major threat to global health. These 3 diseases are causing more than 5 million deaths every year, with 95% of this mortality occurring in the developing world. No vaccines have been successfully developed for HIV/AIDS and malaria, while BCG-based vaccines are far from being perfect for prevention and control purposes. The development of these much needed vaccines for marketing mostly in less developed countries is not perceived as high priority by the pharmaceutical industry, and there is an urgent need to establish public funds for investment in this neglected area. In response to this emergency, the European Commission (EC) is committed to providing a broad and comprehensive support in a wide range of policy areas, including trade, development and research.

In the area of vaccines, the EC has identified and addressed two challenges, including:

- 1) support of research projects for the development of new promising vaccine approaches and candidate vaccines, and their accelerated progress through preclinical development and human testing in early phase I trials; and
- 2) development of a programme to support phase II and III clinical trials in Africa.

The latter challenge is being addressed by a newly created European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP) by the EC Directorate of Research, Health Directorate, F3 unit: Poverty-related Diseases.

The EDCTP is being developed as a long-term initiative (10–20 years), with shared ownership of European and developing countries, and a dynamic structure with balanced involvement of different stakeholders, including European and developing countries, the European Commission, industry and international organizations.

The overall aims of the EDCTP are to:

- increase the effectiveness of Europe's investment in clinical trials for interventions against poverty-related diseases;
- attract more resources for the development of these interventions;
- accelerate the development of candidate products and their processing through the developmental pipeline;
- accelerate the development of capacity and capability of developing countries in testing efficacy of these interventions.

The interventions to be tested against HIV/AIDS, TB and malaria include the following:

- new drugs and combination therapies;
- vaccines;
- diagnostics;
- microbicides against HIV; and
- other commodities for malaria prevention, such as insecticide-treated bed nets.

It has been stated that EDCTP should focus only on research needs, and that it should not use its funds for other purposes, such as alleviating poverty, improving health care systems and providing treatment, funds for which should be sought from other relevant programmes.

An overall budget in the region of 600 million for five years will be supported by EU countries, the 6th Framework Programme for Research and the private sector (foundations and industry). The activities will be supervised by an EDCTP partnership board where the EC, European States, developing-country scientists and private industry will be represented.

In 10 years from now the success of EDCTP will be assessed on the basis of:

- the development of a package of interventions to control poverty-related diseases which can be deployed effectively;
- a number of independent African scientists or a team of scientists competing successfully within the EU and other international grant programmes to conduct clinical trials in Africa; and
- a number of African institutions capable of initiating phase I and phase II clinical trials on poverty-related diseases with African scientists as principal investigators.

2. The GAVI vaccine R&D projects

2.1 Update on GAVI activities (Abdallah Bchir)

The GAVI goals focus on three areas: (1) reversing the downward trend in immunization coverage that has been seen in recent years, (2) reducing the delay in the introduction of new vaccines, such as hepatitis B vaccine and *Haemophilus influenzae* type b (Hib) conjugate, and (3) saving lives by accelerating the development and introduction of the newest vaccines that are currently in late-stage development, such as multivalent pneumococcal conjugate and rotavirus vaccines.

Progress has been made with the Vaccine Fund, which has to date approved immunization support for 68 of the 75 eligible countries. Two additional countries are in the submission/review process and five countries have yet to apply. Achievements at the country level have also progressed with an additional three million children receiving full DTP3 coverage in 2001. An analysis of the disbursement of funds and resources has shown that 77% of the funds have reached the districts and regions.

This success is driven by performance-based grants from the Vaccine Fund, which allow countries to set their own targets to increase immunization coverage, and to decide on how to utilize the funds donated. In addition, countries are rewarded for the number of additional children immunized, this system being subject to an external audit and verification process. Eight countries are eligible for these reward incentives in 2003.

Despite the inroads made, some major challenges remain. These include:

- financial sustainability after the five-year support period;
- vaccine availability; and
- barriers to vaccine coverage.

Twelve countries have had to review their financial sustainability plans, with eight requiring minor revision and four major revisions. However, of extreme concern is the reduced availability of vaccine. Indeed the availability of DTP has dropped dramatically over the last few years. Finally, there remain many barriers to increased vaccine coverage, which include lack of political will and commitment by countries, the absence of physical infrastructures and equipment to deliver the vaccines, the lack of monitoring systems to evaluate disease burden, poor immunization performance and planning, and the gap in human resources for improved immunization delivery and social mobilization. GAVI is working closely with WHO to help countries that have not yet applied for support, or that require assistance with their financial sustainability plans.

2.2 Meningococcal vaccines (Luis Jodar)

Epidemic meningitis is associated with great morbidity and mortality in sub-Saharan Africa, and across the "meningitis belt", with an estimated 250 million people at risk. Children and young adults up to 29 years of age constitute the target-age group at risk. The Meningitis Vaccine Project (MVP) is a partnership between WHO and the Program for Appropriate Technology in Health (PATH), funded by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, and developed after all the major manufacturers had suspended their development projects of group A meningococcal conjugate vaccines. Although the primary objective of the MVP is to develop a safe and efficacious vaccine against meningitis, three guiding principles have been defined: (1) the project is about public health impact and not simply about making a vaccine available, and thus (2) decisions about the future candidate vaccine are linked to introduction strategies and likely financial constraints, and (3) African public health officials are closely involved with the MVP.

Discussions with African public health officials have highlighted that the most important factor in the introduction of the vaccine is cost. The meningitis-belt countries are amongst the poorest in the world and the vaccine price should therefore not exceed US\$ 0.50 per dose.

Despite the outbreak in 2001–2002 of a serogroup W135 *N. meningitidis* strain in Burkina Faso, it was decided to move ahead with the development of a monovalent A vaccine candidate, with a backup strategy allowing the development of an A/W vaccine. Careful monitoring of epidemic meningitis will help to determine if W135 will become a major strain in the region. The main reason for the development of a monovalent A vaccine is that the vast majority of meningococcal isolates in Africa are still type A and that the lower price of a monovalent vaccine will allow the greatest public health impact.

An ambitious timetable of clinical trials has been developed which anticipates the production of clinical lots of the vaccine in 2004, with phase I and II trials starting by 2005. It is hoped the vaccine could be licensed for use by 2008.

The MVP faces both challenges and opportunities. Challenges include the high risk of the project, technical and managerial complexities and currently a lack of mechanisms to ensure long-term large-scale and sustainable production of the vaccine. Opportunities certainly include the low cost of the vaccine, the acceptable although ambitious timelines and the possibility of developing a tailor-made vaccine for Africa.

2.3 Rotavirus vaccines (Irene Perez-Schael)

The global burden of morbidity and mortality of rotavirus infection is well recognized and an estimated 480 000–600 000 deaths in young children <5 years of age are attributable to rotavirus annually. In addition, rotavirus is responsible for approximately 3-5% of all paediatric hospital admissions and 40-75% of hospitalized diarrhoeal episodes. The dehydrating nature of rotavirus infection occurs predominately in infants under 12 months of age. Due to these factors, the development of a rotavirus vaccine has been prioritized for the past two decades.

Two rotavirus vaccines are currently licensed – the reassortant rhesus rotavirus (RotaShield) in the USA, and a lamb rotavirus strain in China, which is used only in this country. However, the reported association of the RotaShield vaccine with intussusception has resulted in the company withdrawing this vaccine from the market. Two other live, oral-attenuated vaccines are in late stage clinical development. These include the bovine reassortant vaccine developed by Merck and the human monovalent vaccine being developed by GSK.

The human monovalent rotavirus strain is currently under clinical evaluation in three Latin-American countries and in Europe. Recent results of these clinical trials have indicated good immunogenicity of the vaccine as well as good protective efficacy against severe rotavirus disease, comparable with those achieved with RotaShield. Large phase III safety and efficacy trials have started in 12 Latin American countries.

The bovine reassortant vaccine of Merck is a pentavalent vaccine containing the human rotavirus VP7 genes for serotypes G1–G4 and the VP4 P1a[8] gene. This vaccine candidate has also shown good immunogenicity and protective efficacy in a clinical trial carried out in Finland. A large phase III safety and efficacy trial is currently under way in the USA and Europe.

Finally, there are several other rotavirus vaccine candidates under development including other bovine reassortant strains, neonatal human strains and virus-like particles.

2.4 Rotavirus Accelerated Development and Introduction Plan (ADIP) (John Wecker)

The GAVI Rotavirus ADIP has recently been established at PATH in Seattle under the directorship of Dr John Wecker. The primary objective of the ADIP is to reduce the long delay between development and licensure of a new vaccine and its implementation in countries where it is most needed. Two main contributors to this delay are believed to be uncertain supply of vaccine by vaccine producers and uncertain demand for the vaccine by countries. The Rotavirus ADIP is intended to break this "vicious circle".

To address the issue of vaccine supply, multiple vaccine candidates should be developed. A potential objective of the Rotavirus ADIP might therefore be to engage the big pharmaceutical companies (such as GSK and Merck, who are both developing vaccine candidates), to encourage the efforts of local manufacturers such as Bharat or BioFarma, and to consider new partnerships with other candidate vaccine strains.

To address the issue of demand, it is necessary for the Rotavirus ADIP to establish the value of the vaccine and to communicate that value to policy and decision-makers. Thus the Rotavirus ADIP will engage, with strategic partners, in burden of disease surveillance to demonstrate the need and create an awareness of and demand for the vaccine. Secondly, the Rotavirus ADIP will support clinical evaluation of the vaccine candidates in developing countries to demonstrate the effectiveness of the vaccine. In addition, the Rotavirus ADIP will undertake demand forecasting in collaboration with the private and the public sectors.

Finally, Rotavirus ADIP intends to complement activities already in place with other public sector partners. The ADIP will not make policy, but enable policy decision-making; it will not perform research and development *per se*, but engage with other partners to support R&D efforts; it will not procure vaccine for countries but invest in the process whereby these vaccines can become available. Importantly, the Rotavirus ADIP is not there to replace other funds and donors, but to complement these activities.

2.5 Pneumococcal vaccines (Rosanna Lagos)

Streptococcus pneumoniae disease remains a major cause of childhood mortality in developing countries, and is associated with 3.5 million deaths annually. Over half of these occur in young children <5 years of age. The expectations of paediatric vaccination against *S. pneumoniae* are, therefore, to prevent life-threatening pneumococcal diseases (invasive disease and pneumonia), to reduce highly prevalent but less severe diseases, such as acute otitis media, and to reduce carriage and transmission of *S. pneumoniae* and the spread of antibiotic resistant strains of *S. pneumoniae*.

For the development of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines, the capsular polysaccharide is considered a critical virulence factor and antibodies against this antigen have been shown to be protective. However, there are more than 90 capsular polysaccharide serotypes and the protection is serotype specific, which means that the vaccines should contain multiple polysaccharides. Fortunately 7–12 serotypes account for most paediatric invasive infections worldwide; this has led to the development of polyvalent conjugate vaccines.

The efficacy of the 7-valent vaccine against invasive disease has been shown to be very high (>95%) and importantly, strain replacement with non-vaccine serotypes did not occur in invasive disease. Furthermore, in Finland, the 7-valent vaccine showed 34% efficacy against all otitis media and 57% protection against otitis media caused by strains included in the vaccine. Finally, the 9-valent vaccine candidate has shown good protective efficacy against invasive disease in HIV-positive (65%) and HIV-negative (83%) infants in South Africa.

In conclusion, studies with pneumococcal conjugate vaccines have shown an impressive reduction in invasive pneumococcal disease with no evidence of an increase in invasive disease with non-vaccine serotypes. There has been a reduction of carriage of vaccine serotypes and of antibiotic resistant strains, although there has been a trend towards strain replacement with non-vaccine serotypes. In addition, a moderate reduction in acute otitis media caused by the vaccine strains has been observed with some evidence of strain replacement.

2.6 Pneumococcal Accelerated Development and Introduction Plan (Orin Levine)

The GAVI Pneumococcus Accelerated Development and Introduction Plan (Pneumo-ADIP) was recently established and based at the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health in Baltimore under the direction of Dr Orin Levine. The mission of the Pneumo-ADIP is to accelerate the evaluation of and access to new life-saving pneumococcal vaccines for children in the world's poorest countries. The Pneumo-ADIP is structured around three major objectives:

- to establish the value;
- to communicate the value; and
- to deliver the value of the pneumococcal vaccines, with a team member responsible for each element.

Similar to the Rotavirus ADIP, the Pneumo-ADIP will address issues of vaccine supply and demand.

The role of the Pneumo-ADIP is to generate evidence-based decision-making on pneumococcal vaccine introduction both globally (investment case for the GAVI Board) and locally to support partner efforts at the country level. A second role is to facilitate ongoing efforts by creating a communication strategy to enhance policy decision from the research evidence and to link unconnected activities in countries and regions. Finally, the Pneumo-ADIP can play a role in strategy development to link demand targets and supply or financing resources.

The Pneumo-ADIP is different from other initiatives because it is target driven, and milestone-based in collaboration with manufacturers, with a focused operational team to ensure implementation.

2.7 Agenda for GAVI technology R&D (Aldo Tagliabue)

The GAVI R&D New Technologies Working Group established in 2000, was given the task of examining recently developed technologies with the objective of improving routine immunization programmes. Three technologies have been selected for further research and support and are discussed below.

Sugar glassification

The sugar-glass preservation of specific vaccines, such as currently liquid bacterial vaccines, would render them thermostable, which could help to diminish dependence on the costly and difficult to maintain cold chain. This in turn may reduce the wastage due to temperature damage of these vaccines. An added benefit of this would be the lower costs of shipping and storage of the vaccine.

The strategy developed for this new technology includes R&D on vaccine stability, facilitating public/private partnerships for the development and production, and ensuring access to intellectual property rights.

Oral fluid antibody assays

New methods are required, besides the data quality audit, to monitor immunization coverage. A rapid, inexpensive assay to detect tetanus antitoxin antibodies in oral fluids at levels that are considered protective might be of great value. These non-invasive methods will utilize oral fluid (which is a mixture of IgG-rich crevicular fluid [derived by transudation from serum] and IgA-rich saliva) to measure levels of tetanus antitoxin in specimens from older infants and toddlers in surveys. In this way the performance of immunization services in different regions of a country can be objectively assessed.

An extensive validation process will be required in which levels of IgG tetanus antitoxin are compared in serum and oral fluids collected from the same children. In addition, different saliva collection devices will require evaluation for optimal specimen collection.

Needle de-fanging devices

Immunization accounts for 10% of all injections globally and thus presents a major problem with needle-stick injuries and re-use of needles. It was proposed to evaluate the introduction of simple devices to "de-fang" needles after use. Nevertheless, at present the advantage of de-fangers remains theoretical. Well-designed controlled studies are required in developing countries to evaluate the feasibility of the introduction of such devices and their effectiveness. The costs are estimated to fall between US\$ 50 and US\$ 300 per unit and an estimated 125 million such devices may be required. The lifetime of a unit is currently estimated to be approximately 25 000 de-fanging operations before it would need to be replaced.

2.8 The Measles Aerosol Project (Ana Maria Henao-Restrepo)

In the 40+ years since measles vaccine was licensed, it has had an excellent safety record with proven effectiveness in preventing measles morbidity and mortality. However, there are an estimated 500 000 measles deaths per year among children <5 years. The vaccine is heat stable before reconstitution and has a low cost. The Measles Aerosol Project (MAP) has been initiated to consider alternative, easier-to-administer delivery systems for measles vaccine, which should also address issues related to the safety of delivery and the reduction of the safety burden of disposal of needles. Therefore, the objective of the MAP is to develop and license at least one measles vaccine delivery device for the respiratory delivery of the vaccine. Indeed, measles aerosol immunization has shown good safety, is immunogenic and induces an immune response in >80% of infants aged \geq 9 months and >10% of preschool and school children. One study in Mexico showed a lower attack rate in those children immunized by aerosol, than by the subcutaneous route.

The major elements of the project include:

- a product file that takes into account current and future directions of the measles programme;
- a targeted workplan with defined milestones and a fast-track regulatory pathway,
- a budget that covers the key activities for licensure, and
- established management and expert advice arrangements to drive the implementation plan.

Current options being considered include nasal spray systems, ultrasonic nebulizers and jet nebulizers. Current studies involve defining the optimal particle size, output flow and consistency of the administration route, measurement of the size and distribution of live viral particles through the devices, and characterization of the classical Mexican aerosol device. Animal studies in cynomologous macaques have shown good safety and efficacy of the aerosol administration. Further studies are planned to examine toxicology. Phase I trials are planned in India, where the initial focus will be on jet nebulizers.

Safety evaluation has received high priority in the MAP. A number of potential safety concerns have been identified (including sensitization of the respiratory tract, safety in HIV-infected individuals, spread of measles virus to the central nervous system, environmental risk, and contamination and cross infection). Ad hoc expert groups have been formed to review the evidence related to each of the safety concerns and to develop optimal methods for their assessment during the animal studies and clinical trials.

Finally, the regulatory pathways have been defined and key activities required for licensure are ongoing. MAP is on track for product delivery by 2007, notwithstanding the technical challenges that remain.

3. Keynote address: strategy of the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation towards the prevention of infectious diseases

(Regina Rabinovich)

The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation was founded in January 2000. It has assets of US\$ 24 billion, has awarded US\$ 5.95 billion in grants and has four major programmes: Global Health, Education, Pacific Northwest and Libraries.

The Global Health Program of the Foundation recognizes the disparity between the enormous burden of disease in developing countries and the limited resources available to fight against it. The situation wherein only 10% of the research budget is spent on diseases that cause 90% of global illness and death results in a global health problem that undermines economic development, as well as social and political stability.

The Foundation's approach is to try to reduce this health gap between the rich and poor countries. However, this requires financial commitment to match the scale of the crisis, targeted resources and proof of the scalability of the chosen interventions.

The fundamental concepts underlying the Foundation's strategy are as follows:

- 1) to bring innovation into context for people in developing countries;
- 2) to provide evidence that what is proposed can be accomplished;
- 3) to focus on results, which should be evaluated and accounted for;
- 4) to avoid replacement;
- 5) to promote new partnerships; and
- 6) to build long-term human and institutional capacity.

The burden from infectious diseases is an enormous problem. The lack of access to relatively simple interventions that could prevent death, the disparity between the problems and the amount spent on research (only 20 out of 1500 drugs approved in the last 25 years address problems in the poorest countries), the multiple barriers to development of needed drugs and vaccines, the unclear future funding for product development partnerships, the "brain drain" of health care professionals from endemic countries and the tension between sector-wide approaches and disease-specific programmes contribute to the problem. To tackle this problem, essential new drugs, vaccines and diagnostics must be made available where they are needed the most.

Human and financial resources need to be mobilized and long-term human capacity built up and innovative financing mechanisms developed to ensure continued access to the health interventions.

The Foundation's strategy for tackling this problem is built around its three basic elements. The "build it" strategy has worked and justified investment in the development of essential drugs through the Global Alliance for TB Drug Development, Medicines for Malaria Venture and the Novel Drug for Trypanosomiasis projects and in the development of new vaccines through the Malaria Vaccine Initiative, the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative and the Vaccine for Leishmaniasis project. To "prove it", the foundation has worked in partnership with a number of alliances and initiatives to evaluate the impact of interventions. The Vaccine Fund, GAVI, the Polio Eradication Project and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, TB and Malaria are examples of the Foundation's programmes to "sustain it".

The malaria programme of the Foundation is an example of how the three basic elements are being undertaken in parallel. New tools for the control of malaria are being developed through the Medicines for Malaria Venture, the Malaria Vaccines Initiative, the Seattle Biomed Research Institute and the Vector Control Concept. New innovative approaches being the field are tested in through the Intermittent Presumptive Therapy in Infants project and the Gates Malaria Programme. Scaling of sustainable interventions is being carried out through the Global Fund for AIDS, TB and Malaria.

Procedures and mechanisms

The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation receives close to 25 000 grant submissions per year. The procedure to apply for a grant is either a direct response to a formal call for proposals or a letter of inquiry (LOI) for a proposal on a subject that aligns with one of the Foundation's grant-making priorities. If the LOI is accepted, programme staff will solicit a grant proposal for further review. The programme officer assigned will provide proposal guidelines as well as a budget spreadsheet to assist in developing the proposal. The Foundation will support innovative solutions that accelerate development and application and improve sustainability of health interventions that address the diseases and health conditions within their scope. Funding is focused on projects that will have a potential long-term impact on public health in developing countries and that align with strategic approaches of the Foundation: build, prove, and sustain. All submissions are subjected to external review.

4. Regulatory and ethical issues in the development and introduction of new vaccines

4.1 The ethics of vaccine clinical trials in paediatric populations of developing countries (*Claudio Lanata*)

A meeting was convened by WHO in November 2002 in Accra, Ghana, to analyse the specific ethical aspects of vaccine clinical trials in paediatric populations of developing countries. Indeed, these children carry a disproportionately high burden of disease and vaccines are urgently needed to protect the children, but trials to evaluate these vaccines are complicated by the existing poverty and social issues in these countries, as well as by the lack of regulatory mechanisms and ethics committee capacity to ensure high ethical standards in the conduct of these much-needed trials. While guidelines on biomedical ethics are available, they are sometimes inadequate in meeting the particular needs of vaccine trials in children in developing countries.

The meeting was convened to identify ethical issues, explore solutions and provide guidance to local ethics committees and sponsoring bodies. A number of issues were identified during the meeting. These included:

- 1) The moral imperative to conduct necessary vaccine trials in children in developing countries that carry the highest burden of vaccine-preventable diseases, and the necessity to balance the urgent need to conduct trials with the need to ensure high scientific and ethical standards.
- 2) The particular vulnerability of children in developing countries who are socioeconomically and medically disadvantaged, are unable to provide informed consent and may be subject to harmful cultural and gender norms, and thus to exploitation.
- 3) The need to maximize benefits and minimize risks to the child participants and to obtain community approval for the trials.
- 4) Issues related to the requirement for clinical equipoise at the individual level, and to the choice of the control/comparator.
- 5) The recognition that improved survival may be the most powerful outcome to trigger public health action, yet one that raises specific ethical issues related to the standard of care provided to trial participants, which is often not optimal in many developing country settings.
- 6) The timing for moving trials in industrialized countries to developing countries, the de-escalation strategy from trials in adults to children in the target age group, and the complex ethical issues related to the participation of adolescents in trials, especially those where maintaining confidentiality is important, e.g. trials of HIV vaccine.

- 7) The difficulties in ensuring that consent is truly "informed"; the balance between providing improved medical care while not allowing this to be an inducement for participation; the tension between keeping the language and contents of the consent form understandable and the need to meet legal and regulatory requirements. It was noted that cultural differences may result in conflict between ethics committees of the sponsoring agency and local ethics committees.
- 8) Issues related to trial oversight, the required regulatory framework, compensation and insurance and access to the product undergoing trial if it is shown to be beneficial.

Each of these is a complex issue, often with no clear-cut answers. The objective of the meeting was to produce a report that provides an open discussion of the issues, provides possible solutions and illustrates the issues with examples from specific trials where these issues were encountered and dealt with. This document was published in December 2003 on the web site of the WHO Initiative for Vaccine Research.

4.2 Prequalification of new vaccines for global use (Nora Dellepiane)

The goal of WHO is to ensure that 100% of vaccines used in immunization programmes are of assured quality. Vaccines of assured quality are defined as those produced in a country with a national regulatory authority (NRA) that is both functional and independent of the manufacturers and where the importing country has the capacity to provide the required regulatory oversight. This requires that all countries have an NRA that is able to perform the required critical regulatory functions.

WHO prescribes six critical regulatory functions, of which the NRA must perform two or more depending on whether the country produces vaccine indigenously or procures it by itself or through UN agencies. These are:

- 1) a published set of requirements for licensing;
- 2) surveillance for vaccine field performance;
- 3) a system of lot release;
- 4) use of the control laboratory, as required;
- 5) regular inspections for GMP;
- 6) evaluation of clinical performance for clinical efficacy and safety.

Of these, the first two are required in countries where vaccines are procured through UN agencies, the first four for those who procure vaccines directly and all six for those countries that produce vaccines indigenously. Currently, of the 192 Member States of the UN, 83 procure vaccines through UN agencies, 61 directly from manufacturers and 48 produce vaccine indigenously. The purpose of the prequalification process is to provide UN agencies with an independent opinion on the quality, safety and efficacy of the vaccines they purchase, to ensure that the candidate vaccines are suitable for the needs of the programmes in targeted countries and to guarantee compliance established continuing with standards of quality. This process affects both the vaccine-producing countries as well as those procuring vaccines through UN agencies.

The prequalification is achieved through the following steps:

- 1) assessment of the NRA using the established indicators;
- 2) review of the product summary file;
- 3) consistency testing of the final product samples; and
- 4) a site visit to the manufacturing facility jointly with the NRA.

If all the steps in the process are satisfactorily fulfilled, the vaccine is accepted for UN purchase and posted on the web-based list of WHO prequalified vaccines. The approval is for a period of two years, at which time a reassessment is carried out. Though the pre-qualification status of the vaccine is reviewed every two years, NRA assessment may take place more frequently, as required.

In recent years, there has been a gradual evolution in the list of prequalified vaccines, with an increasing amount of the traditional Expanded Programme on Immunization (EPI) vaccines being produced by manufacturers in developing countries or countries in transition (DC/TC), and the new or underutilized vaccines (e.g. Hib and hepatitis B) and combination vaccines being produced by industrialized country manufacturers. With the increasing demand for newer and underutilized vaccines and combinations from DC/TC, there will be a need for these demands to be met by developing country manufacturers. Such vaccines may be fully produced from seed in DC/TC, produced in partnership with an industrialized country manufacturer or through purchase of prequalified bulk with finishing and filling done in DC/TC. This move will require the development of new regulatory pathways and training to strengthen and maintain the capacity of NRAs in DC/TC. Several regulatory mechanisms are being considered to meet this need and a programme of NRA assessment, training and ongoing monitoring and evaluation has been developed and implemented through a Global Training Network.

4.3 The EMEA perspective (Roland Dobbelaer)

Certain vaccines are needed only in certain countries because of epidemiological, socioeconomic and logistic conditions and are often produced and exported by manufacturers in the EU. Many such importing countries may depend solely on the NRA in the country of manufacture even though the country itself is not using it, e.g. DTP vaccine containing wholecell pertussis (DTwP), oral polio vaccine (OPV) and multidose thiomersal-containing formulations. Currently, the EU has three licensing procedures: (1) licensure in one EU country, which will no longer be the case for newer vaccines; (2) mutual recognition or a decentralized procedure within the EU; and (3) a centralized procedure, which will apply to all new vaccines and recombinant vaccines.

In order to improve transparency and surveillance of the market, the EU proposes a change in practice. In the revised legislation, authorizations will cease to exist if the product is not put on the market in the EU within two or three years. This means that licensure of products that are not marketed locally may not be possible. A possible solution would be an amendment to the legislation allowing the European Medicines Evaluation Agency (EMEA) to give a scientific opinion in cooperation with WHO for the assessment of certain medicinal products for human use intended solely for markets outside the European Community. These would be subject to the principle

that the same standards would be applied as are applied in the EU, that application would be accepted only with the agreement of WHO and that vaccines would be assessed with WHO participation in the process. Under this process, the EMEA would review the dossier, deliver its opinion, and carry out the normal batch release. WHO would be represented in the Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMP) to describe and help analyse specific conditions (e.g. risk/benefit related to the conditions in the country of destination). Pharmacovigilance and follow-up would be carried out by the NRA of the country of destination.

This legislation is still being debated and a decision is expected in 2004. This process would also have to be agreed upon by WHO, EU and non-EU countries of destination. In addition, the procedure for identifying the products that would be processed under this provision also needs to be defined.

4.4 The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) perspective (*Michael Brennan*)

Vaccine development is a global challenge. The US FDA acknowledges that infectious diseases do not recognize geographical borders and that although the mandate of NRAs is the safety of the people in their countries, the FDA also needs to be involved at a global level.

At the FDA, the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) is involved in a number of international activities. These include serving on WHO/PAHO programmes, preparing reference reagents, and participating in WHO training and inspection programmes as well as in the International Conference on Harmonisation.

The variety of vaccine types, e.g. DNA, recombinant, peptide, live attenuated, new adjuvants, new delivery systems and combination vaccines poses new challenges for regulatory agencies. In the area of TB alone, all the above types of vaccine are being evaluated. Thus, the staff of the FDA have to be familiar with the state of the art technologies.

A number of common questions arise in vaccine development. There are no clear answers to many of them and each may require a case-by-case answer. In order to address the international regulatory challenges a number of factors are required. They include:

- more flexible regulatory guidance;
- improved interaction between developers and regulators in early phases of development, and more GMP-quality facilities to produce and characterize vaccines even in preclinical phases of evaluation;
- standardization of regulatory practices, e.g. for DNA vaccines;
- mechanisms for assessing ri/bebenefit in different epidemiological settings; and
- continued evaluation of import/export polices.

The US FDA aims to assist WHO and other international initiatives in regulatory strategies that help accelerate the uptake of vaccines in the developing world without compromising vaccine safety and effectiveness assessment.

4.5 Perspective of the Korean NRA (Yeowon Sohn)

The origins of the Korean FDA (KFDA) can be traced back to the establishment of the National Chemistry Laboratory in 1945. In 1998 the KFDA was established under the Ministry of Health and Welfare, and in 1998 it was reorganized and elevated to the status of an independent agency and included the National Institute of Toxicological Research (NITR). It has six regional offices, employing a total of 329 staff, including 58 researchers and 31 technical staff.

The mission of the KFDA is "to protect and enhance the public health through the regulation of foods, food additives, human drugs, biological products, medical devices and cosmetics". The Biologics Department in the Office of Safety Evaluation is responsible for vaccines. It comprises four divisions – bacterial products, viral products, biotechnology and blood products.

The Biologics Department, together with the NITR, is responsible for licensing, lot release, laboratory access, GMP inspection and clinical evaluation of vaccines. Together with the Korean National Institute of Health it conducts AEFI surveillance.

The future vision of the KFDA is to establish a Centre for Korean Standards of Biologicals, to play a contributory role as a Centre for Regional Biological Standards and be recognized by WHO as such, including as a WHO International Training Centre. To achieve this vision, KFDA is constructing a new laboratory facility, establishing national standards for biologics, and establishing a Global Training Network centre. In order to strengthen the functioning of the National Control Laboratory, KFDA has developed a Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS), a Laboratory Automation System (LAS) and a Data Information Management System (DIMS).

In conclusion, KFDA's objectives are to implement science-based regulations, compatible with international standards, and to facilitate domestic and global vaccine development.

5. Cancer vaccines

5.1 Epidemiology of *Helicobacter pylori* and gastric cancer (*Giuseppe del Giudice on behalf of David Forman*)

Despite a general and sharp decline, stomach cancer remains the second cause of cancerrelated death worldwide, with 647 000 deaths per year representing 10% of the global cancer mortality. It is associated with high morbidity and poor survival, with the majority of cases and deaths reported in developing countries (543 000 cases and 416 000 deaths, as compared to 333 000 cases and nearly 230 000 deaths in industrialized countries each year). The highest incidence rates are reported in South America, South-East Asia and Eastern Europe. China, Japan and Korea report the highest incidence rates in males with 100, 60 and 40 cases per 100 000 and cumulative risk to 75 years of 19.6%, 11.1% and 4.9% respectively, as compared to 1.5% reported for England (9).

The histopathological sequence of events in the gastric epithelium (inducing a superficial gastritis or atrophic gastritis) has been described since 1975 by Correa and collaborators, and can be initiated by high salt diets and irritants, while concomitantly low vitamin C and carotenoids as well as presence of nitroso compounds can lead to epithelial metaplasias, dysplasia and cancer. In 1983 Marshall found that the curved bacillus in human gastric epithelia was associated with peptic ulcer and gastric cancer. *Helicobacter pylori* are gram negative bacilli, isolated almost exclusively from human gastric epithelium, which evades host immune responses, giving rise to chronic inflammatory reactions. In 1994, the International Agency for Research on Cancer categorized *Helicobacter pylori* as a group 1 carcinogenic agent. It is the most common bacterial infection worldwide, ubiquitous in most developing countries, primarily acquired in childhood, and it is rarely self-limiting (except in children). Infection can be treated effectively by antibiotics, and eradication regimes are complex but relatively successful.

Meta-analysis of results from 12 prospective studies has provided evidence for the association between *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer (10) with an attributable fraction of 65–80%, equivalent to more than 400 000 annual cases worldwide. The question arises as to why 2% of *H. pylori*-infected subjects develop gastric cancer. Different bacterial strains showing increasing risk for cancer induction, different host responses to infection, and different exposure to other environmental factors are among some of the reasons (11, 12, 13). Can prevention of *H. pylori* infection decrease gastric cancer? To address this public health concern 11 randomized, long-term, intervention studies have started, most designed to analyse pre-cancerous end-points. Three studies

- two Chinese (14, 15) and one Japanese (16) - reported that treatment of *H. pylori* infections slowed down the progression of gastric atrophy. In conclusion, *H. pylori* is an important etiological agent for gastric cancer with a substantial attributable risk, and therefore population-based eradication of *H. pylori* may offer cost-effective means of preventing a cancer with considerable morbidity and mortality.

5.2 Helicobacter pylori vaccines against gastric cancer (Giuseppe del Giudice)

H. pylori infections can be treated by proton pump inhibitors or antibiotics for two to three weeks with over 90% efficacy in controlled trials. However, efficacy at the level of general practitioners is likely to be lower due to possible reinfections, poor compliance to the therapeutic schema, and increasing antibiotics resistance. An effective vaccine against *H. pylori* could overcome these drawbacks in preventing infection and reinfections and potentially eradicate this pathogen. Possible cost-effectiveness of vaccination has been favourably established in both developed and developing countries (17). Hence, three vaccine candidates have been tested in humans so far: recombinant urease as antigen combined with wild type LT, administered orally (18, 19), as well as urease expressed in *Salmonella* and administered orally (20, 21), both showing poor immunogenicity. Inactivated whole-cell extracts combined to LTR192G mutant, despite high immunogenicity, show no therapeutic efficacy (22).

A multi-component, pathogenesis-based approach to vaccine development has recently been undertaken, based on the combination of three antigenic components, namely the cytotoxin-associated gene A (CagA), cell vacuolation antigen (VacA) and neutrophil-activating protein (NAP). Prophylactic vaccination of mice and dogs (beagles) using each of these components, with and without adjuvants, showed that it is possible to elicit immune responses and 80% protection. Therefore, recombinant purified CagA/VacA/Nap vaccine candidate in alum was given intramuscularly to *H. pylori*-negative healthy adult volunteers in a randomized, controlled, single-blind, dose ranging study, conducted to establish its safety and immunogenicity profile. Results show significantly high antibody levels following immunization with either a low (10 mg) or a high (25 mg) dose at 0, 1, 4 months, as measured at month 5, with over 80% seroconversion rates. Proliferative responses and IFN-g production were present after immunization, particularly towards CagA. Adverse experiences such as erythema, induration and fever were low.

In conclusion, the multicomponent injectable *H. pylori* vaccine candidate formulated with alum adjuvant is safe and immunogenic. It will be crucial to establish its prophylactic efficacy in areas of high rates of *H. pylori* infection.

5.3 Overview of prevalence of human papillomavirus (HPV) infection – globally and in Thailand (Saibua Chichareon)

The incidence of cervical cancer worldwide is highest in some countries of Latin America, Africa and Asia, as compared to North America, Australia, Middle East, and some European countries. HPV was studied as the sexually transmitted etiological agent in cervical neoplasia in 1977, and in 1999 was established as the necessary cause of cervical cancer (23). The International Agency for Research on Cancer has started worldwide multicentre studies, including prevalence surveys and case-control studies, establishing the HPV type prevalence in the general population and in cancer cases respectively. In a series of publications, scientists have established that 57.6% of cervical cancers are attributable to HPV-16 infections, 14.1% to HPV-18, and 5.4% to HPV-45.

In the studied populations, the prevalence of HPV infection varies from 26.2% in Nigeria to 1.6% in Hanoi. The prevalence of HPV DNA by age follows different patterns, with some populations showing highest levels under 25 years, decreasing with age, such as in Argentina, Korea and Thailand, while others show increased prevalence in older ages, such as in Columbia and Mexico. Interestingly, in Thailand and Viet Nam there is a south-north difference in HPV prevalence, the city of Hanoi in North Viet Nam reporting low HPV prevalence (in all age groups studied: 1–3%), and the city of Ho Chi Minh in the south reporting high prevalence, particularly in young women under 25 years (22%), but declining with age. Similarly, the province of Lampang, in the north of Thailand reports high prevalence (15%), decreasing steadily with age, and the province of Songkla in the south reports moderate prevalence rates (7%) in both young and old, but lower in middle-aged women. In Thailand the overall HPV prevalence is 6.3% among women studied, and the most common types found are HPV types 16, 52 and 72. Despite geographical variations in HPV type distribution and prevalence, a good correlation between cervical cancer incidence and HPV prevalence among women aged 35-64 years has been established.

5.4 Clinical trials of HPV and cervical cancer vaccines (John Boslego)

Knowing that HPV infection is a necessary cause of cervical and anal cancers, and to respond to the global burden of disease, a vaccine that prevents infection with common pathogenic HPV types will be a major advance in anogenital cancer control. Although systematic Papanicolau testing of cervical smears has reduced the cervical cancer rates by about 75% in some countries, it has significant drawbacks as it has limited sensitivity and specificity, it requires repeated testing, which entails extensive resources and high cost, and it has not proven successful in developing countries.

Candidate vaccines based on recombinant L1 major capsid protein, which self-assembles into virus-like particles (VLPs), have been tested in animal models of species-specific papillomavirus infection/disease. Merck's VLPs are manufactured in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* using a technology similar to that used for hepatitis B vaccine (Recombivax HB). In preclinical studies, vaccination resulted in protection from infection and disease, and passive transfer of antibodies also conferred protection – an indication that efficacy may be associated with development of neutralizing

antibodies. Considering the natural history of HPV disease, the possible end-points for evaluation of prophylactic vaccine efficacy in humans may be HPV infections or cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) development: CIN1 (low grade) and CIN2/3 (moderate and high grade).

Merck has developed a quadrivalent HPV-L1-VLP vaccine candidate, including HPV types 6, 11, 16 and 18, which will target 70% of all CIN2/3 cervical and anal cancers, 50% of all CIN1, and 90% of all genital warts. To date over 13 000 subjects have received the VLP vaccine in alum, which proved to be safe and well tolerated. Vaccination induced high-titre anti-HPV antibodies, up to 145 times higher than titres observed following natural infection. In a phase II/III efficacy study, a monovalent HPV 16 vaccine showed 100% efficacy against HPV 16 persistent infections and CIN. A similar study by GSK, using a bivalent HPV 16+18 L1 VLP vaccine candidate formulated in alum and 3-0-decacylated-monophosphoryl lipid A, has reported comparable results with 100% efficacy against HPV 16+18 persistent infections. A phase III clinical programme is under way at Merck to define the tolerability, immunogenicity and efficacy against HPV-6/11-related genital warts, HPV-6/11/16/18-related CIN-1, and HPV-16/18-related CIN2/3 or worse, in women at high risk in both industrialized and developing countries. Academic, industry and public health collaboration are needed to accelerate the demonstration of HPV vaccine effectiveness in developing countries and to facilitate vaccine introduction into these populations in the near future.

5.5 Epidemiology of HCV and hepatocarcinoma (*Michael Houghton on behalf of Chris Loffredo*)

The hepatitis C virus (HCV) is the sole representative of the hepacivirus genus, and a member of the *Flaviviridae* family of viruses, which includes flaviviruses (yellow fever, dengue viruses) and pestiviruses. C virus strains exhibit up to 30% diversity in their amino acid sequences. HCV prevalence is high in South America, in central and North Africa, and in South-East Asia (24). HCV can be transmitted by blood transfusion, use of injectable drugs, hemodialysis, organ transplant, use of contaminated needles or surgery material, tattooing, sexual contact, perinatal mother-to-child contacts, and others. Injectable drug use remains the main route of transmission in the USA, accounting for nearly 90% of new HCV infections. Acute HCV infection manifests as jaundice in 25% of cases, and in about 50% of subjects the virus persists over years, leading potentially to chronic persistent hepatitis, chronic active hepatitis (CAH), and liver cirrhosis/fibrosis in about 20% of CAH. Eventually, 20% and 7% of cases of cirrhosis/fibrosis progress to liver failure and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), respectively. Spontaneous clearance of infection occurs in 15–50% of cases, and convalescent subjects are 12 times less likely to develop chronicity following reinfection. Cirrhosis and HCC take 20-25 years to develop. Other extrahepatic HCV-associated diseases may occur, such as mixed cryoglomebulinemia, glomerulonephritis, porphyria cutanea, B-cell lymphoma, and others. In the USA, incidence of hospitalization due to HCV diseases showed a significant increase between 1993 and 1998. Incidence rates of HCC among patients with HCV-related cirrhosis is highest in Japan (25).

Some HCV vaccine candidates have been designed to prevent the onset of chronic infection and associated diseases. Native heterodimer complex comprising both envelope glycoproteins gpE1 and gpE2 have been produced in Chinese Hamster Ovary (CHO) or HeLa cells and, upon intramuscular administration, can elicit the secretion of neutralizing antibodies and CD4+ T-cell responses. When tested in the chimpanzee challenge model, high titres of neutralizing antibodies seem to confer protection. Phase I clinical trials with HCV-E1 or E2 vaccine candidates are in progress. Phase II trials of vaccination of chronic HCV infected patients will follow. A vaccine candidate based on recombinant E1 in alum, developed by Innogenetics, has been suggested to have therapeutic value in HCV carriers either alone or in combination with standard care treatments such as interferon á. This vaccine candidate has reached phase II trials in non-responders to interferon treatment. Results show that it is well tolerated and able to raise anti-E1 antibody titres and to arrest or slow down the progression of liver fibrosis. However, no changes in plasma HCV RNA levels were detected, despite decreased antigen levels in the liver.

Recovery from acute hepatitis is associated with broad and early major histocompatibility complex (MCH) class II-CD4+ responses and MHC class I-CD8+ responses to HCV, in the absence of antibodies. Based on this paradigm, an immunostimulatory complex formulation (ISCOM) of HCV polypeptides, which may be able to prime CD8+ and CD4+ cells to associated antigens, has been studied by CSL Ltd. in phase I trials. Overall, this vaccine candidate seems to be safe and well tolerated, with no dose-related increase in frequency of adverse events, and may have both prophylactic and therapeutic value.

6. Regional diseases

6.1 Live-attenuated dengue vaccine development at Mahidol University (Sutee Yoksan)

Dengue viruses are the most widespread arthropod-borne viruses. It is estimated that there are 100 million cases of dengue fever, 500 000 cases of dengue haemorrhagic fever and 25 000 deaths attributable to dengue annually.

In 1980, Mahidol University committed itself to developing a live attenuated tetravalent dengue (DEN) vaccine. The DEN-1, and DEN-2 obtained from dengue haemorrhagic fever patients and DEN-4 obtained from a dengue fever patient were serially passaged in primary dog kidney (PDK) cells certified to be free from human and canine infectious agents. The DEN-3 strain obtained from a dengue haemorrhagic fever patient was passaged in primary green monkey kidney cells and finally in certified fetal Rhesus lung (FRhL) cells. The targeted degree of attenuation was empirically based on the profile of certain biological marker parameters. All tests were performed in GLP-compliant laboratories.

Bulk seeds were prepared in the pilot production facilities at the Center for Vaccine Development at Salaya Campus of Mahidol University. They were subjected to general safety and monkey neurovirulence tests in accordance with the US FDA requirements for live viral vaccines. The candidate dengue vaccines were further recommended for clinical evaluation by a WHO appointed Scientific Peer Review Committee and by the Thai Ethical Review Committee of the Ministry of Public Health.

The monovalent live-attenuated strains corresponding to all four serotypes were evaluated first in flavivirus non-immune adult subjects, followed by testing of bivalent, trivalent and tetravalent vaccine formulations. Twelve different dengue vaccine formulations were then evaluated for confirmation of safety and immunogenicity profiles in phase I trials in children. The formulations were assessed as safe, and some of them elicited satisfactory immune responses.

At the next step of clinical development, researchers evaluated seroneutralizing response elicited by two selected tetravalent formulations of dengue vaccine given as two doses three to five months apart to healthy, flavivirus-seronegative Thai children aged 5–12 years. The formulation 1 (F_1) contained 3, 2, 1 and 2 \log_{10} CCID₅₀ of the serotypes 1, 2, 3 and 4 vaccine strains per dose, respectively; formulation 2 (F2) contained 3, 3, 1 and 3 \log_{10} CCID₅₀ of the same vaccine strains. The results show that vaccination with two doses of both formulations of dengue vaccine were safe and elicited an immune response in children.

The master seeds corresponding to the four live attenuated virus strains were provided to Aventis Pasteur (France) for production on industrial scale following good manufacturing practice guidelines. At present, the tetravalent dengue vaccine candidate produced by this manufacturer is undergoing further clinical trial assessment in dengueendemic countries.

6.2 The Paediatric Dengue Vaccine Initiative (Scott Halstead)

During the last few decades, dengue (DEN) has progressively spread throughout the tropical countries, achieving pandemic status and annually causing tens of millions of cases of dengue fever (DF); since 1960 more than 5 million hospitalizations of children with 70 000 deaths have been reported due to dengue hemorrhagic fever/dengue shock syndrome (DHF/DSS). Dengue shock and fatal cases occur in older children, peaking at age 8–9 years. Dengue epidemics exact a high economic and social toll in over 100 tropical countries. In the Asian and American regions studies have found the global economic burden of DHF and DF to be 1289 DALYs per million. While supportive intensive care can be life saving, specific treatments are not available. The single preventive measure of comprehensive mosquito control has conspicuously failed. Vaccines offer a realistic and near-term solution to control the 20th and 21st century dengue pandemic that rages as a result of contemporary demographic and life-style trends: population explosion, urbanization and rapid transportation of large numbers of people.

Different technologies have been used for the development of dengue vaccines including live-attenuated strains, genetically altered and chimeric viruses, DNA, killed and subunit vaccines. Some robust live attenuated dengue vaccine candidates have been submitted for testing in phase I or II clinical trials. One or more of these candidates may be eligible for phase III trials in the near future. Importantly, dengue vaccines must be able to protect against all four dengue viruses and offer a lifetime of protective immunity.

To accelerate the introduction of safe and effective dengue vaccines a new alliance, the Paediatric Dengue Vaccine Initiative (PDVI), has been established with the following objectives:

- to measure the burden of dengue illness in affected countries;
- to establish two dengue field sites in preparation for phase III clinical trials;
- to carry out targeted research to evaluate the potential safe and effective long-term vaccine-induced protection against severe dengue disease; and
- to negotiate and form vaccine development partnerships to promote products designed for dengue-endemic countries.

The PDVI is not an incorporated entity but a consortium of stakeholders, a virtual body involving public and private sectors, universities, research institutes, international organizations and endemic countries. The PDVI will partner with its host institution, the International Vaccine Institute, Seoul, Republic of Korea. Governance is provided by the PDVI board of councillors and the IVI board of trustees. Programme management is the responsibility of the director, who will be counselled by programme-specific scientific advisory committees and supported by a secretariat at IVI headquarters.

6.3 Research and development of vaccines against typhoid fever (*Mike Levine*)

Typhoid fever is a major health problem in many countries. In the absence of effective antibiotics, typhoid fever is associated with a case fatality rate of 10–20%. Complications of typhoid fever include intestinal perforation and haemorrhage, typhoid hepatitis, myocarditis and acute psychosis. Severe forms of typhoid fever were seen in Java in the 1970s and 1980s with a 50% case-fatality rate, and reasons underlying these exceptional clinical manifestations are still unclear. In addition, since circa 1990, *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhi strains from many countries in Asia are carrying an R factor plasmid encoding multiple antibiotic resistances; this reinforces the need for effective vaccines.

A heat-inactivated, phenol-preserved, parenteral typhoid vaccine was evaluated in WHO-sponsored trials in the 1960s. It provided 51–68% protection. However, it was highly reactogenic as adverse reactions were reported in 7–29% of vaccinated subjects. In the 1980s and early 1990s, a purified Vi polysaccharide parenteral vaccine and a Ty21a live oral vaccine were licensed.

The oral Ty21a attenuated vaccine has been shown to be safe, well tolerated and effective at providing long-term protection. This oral vaccine is highly suitable for school-based immunization, although it is also immunogenic in preschool children. Vaccination induces mucosal and serum O and H antibodies and cell-mediated immunity with participation of cytokine-producing proliferative and cytotoxic lymphocytes. Immunological correlates of protection have been identified through the evaluation of this vaccine in the field.

Parenteral immunization with purified Vi antigen was shown to be well tolerated and to mediate protection by stimulating the production of serum Vi-specific antibodies. A single dose of vaccine elicited moderate protection. As Vi capsular polysaccharide is a "T independent" antigen, the immunity induced by Vi cannot be boosted and years. protection appears to wane over three In addition, this polysaccharide vaccine is poorly immunogenic in infants. Regrettably, in the 1980/ 90s no field trials were carried out to assess the absolute efficacy of vaccination with both Vi and Ty21a. Lessons learned with Ty21a and Vi vaccines have guided further research in the development of a new generation of typhoid vaccines. Main characteristics of typhoid vaccines that would extend access to immunization in developing countries include: needle-free administration, high level of protection after one or two doses, long-term protection, safety in immunocompromised individuals, compatibility with other vaccines, and resistance to excessive heat and cold. The questions raised in relation to the development of new vaccines are the following. Can better parenteral Vi-based and live oral vaccines be designed? Can a live oral vaccine elicit Vi antibody in addition to other immune responses?

A new parenteral Vi vaccine was developed by conjugation with recombinant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* exotoxin A. Vaccination was well tolerated in adults and children, elicited higher titres of anti-Vi antibody than unconjugated Vi and induced immunological memory. High efficacy of this vaccine was shown in two- to five-year old Vietnamese children.

Several strains of *S. typhi* have been developed as potential candidates for future live oral vaccines. Preliminary data on their reactogenicity and immunogenicity were obtained in laboratory tests and animal models. Some of these strains have undergone phases I–II clinical trials with highly encouraging results.

6.4 Research and development of vaccines against Japanese encephalitis (*Ichiro Kurane*)

Japanese encephalitis (JE) is a viral infection, transmitted by mosquitos in mostly rural areas inhabited by Asia's poorest populations. Approximately 50 000 cases are reported to WHO annually. Of clinical cases of acute JE, 40% are fatal, with severe neurological impairment occurring in 10–30% of survivors. Paralysis and neuro-psychiatric disabilities make the incidence of JE infection a significant public health burden with high social and economic costs.

Human vaccination is the only effective long-term control measure against JE, and all at-risk residents should receive a safe and effective vaccine as part of the national immunization programmes. At present, only mouse-brain-derived inactivated JE vaccine is internationally accepted for practical use. It is produced by several manufacturers in Japan, the Republic of Korea, Thailand and Viet Nam. However, there is a shortfall between global request and production facilities of this biological. While the vaccine has dramatically reduced Japanese encephalitis incidence in some counties, these results are marred by short-term protection, and reports of neurological reactions (all in industrialized country settings) after vaccination.

Live attenuated JE vaccine (SA-14-14-2) was developed in China. It was prepared in primary hamster kidney cells, not a widely accepted substrate for production and licensure of vaccines in some countries. The vaccine appears to be safe and effective in annual immunization programmes involving millions of children and successfully controlled the disease in the area of its use. However, it has not been prequalified by WHO for global use. To help manufacturers to produce this vaccine in accordance with international norms and regulations, WHO has developed guidelines for production and quality control of live attenuated JE vaccine. More information on efficacy and adverse reactions in other countries has been requested. In addition, PHK cell-derived inactivated JE vaccine is produced in China, but the production level has declined in the last few years.

Several manufacturers in China, Japan and the USA are dealing with the development of Vero cell-derived inactivated vaccine. In phase I clinical trials these vaccines were well tolerated and induced 100% seroconversion in adult vaccinees. Phase III clinical trials are being conducted in paediatric child populations in Japan. There is good reason to suggest that at least one Vero cell-derived inactivated vaccine will be licensed in the next two to three years.

A promising approach is based on chimeric viruses in which viral envelope genes of JE replace corresponding genes of the existing licensed YF17D vaccine against yellow fever (YF). This vaccine was well tolerated in clinical trials in adult volunteers. It was immunogenic in JE immunologically naive subjects and volunteers with pre-existing antibodies against yellow fever virus and induced immunological memory. A phase II trial is now in progress in WHO's Western Pacific Region.

Introduction of second generation vaccines to practical use will probably meet the global need for this biological. It is anticipated that mouse-brain-derived inactivated vaccine will still be needed in the short and medium term. However, it will eventually be replaced by Vero cell-derived inactivated vaccine, live attenuated SA14-14-2 vaccine or YF-JE chimeric vaccine. Development of criteria for evaluating vaccine efficacy continues to be an area of high research priority.

6.5 The importance of translational research in accelerating JE vaccine introduction (*Zhi Yi Xu*)

The objective of translational research is to provide practical information needed by policy makers and donors to support introduction of vaccines into developing countries. They include characterization of disease burden, cost effectiveness of immunization, policy research to evaluate potential determinants for vaccine introduction, and immunization demonstration projects. The International Vaccine Institute (IVI) in the Republic of Korea is conducting a research project to accelerate introduction of JE vaccines into Asian countries. The main reasons why JE disease burden continues to be underestimated in many countries include the lack of population-based surveillance and infrequent use of appropriate laboratory tests for confirmation of disease.

A study in Bali, Indonesia, has shown that JE is hyperendemic on this island; this contradicts the common opinion that JE is more rare nearer the equator. Age distribution of JE cases shows "shift to the left" with an unusually high percentage in children <5 years. JE is transmitted year round, with a peak in the rainy season, when there is an abundance of mosquitos. The distribution of cases was geographically dispersed throughout the island, suggesting that focused immunization will not be effective. Pigs appear to be amplifying hosts for JE in Bali.

A retrospective, controlled cohort study on long-term post-JE disability has been carried out in China. Results of the study confirm that JE is associated with a high rate of long-term neurological sequelae that persist for years after the acute disease. Moreover, post-JE patients exhibit a high rate of mental retardation and deficits in the ability to carry out basic daily activities. Incidence rates of JE as identified in the study do not adequately capture the disease burden and policy decisions about introducing JE vaccines must also account for the disability that occurs in JE survivors. A cost-effectiveness model of vaccination against JE, using actual incidence and cost data from Shanghai, has demonstrated that vaccination has a marked impact on the incidence of JE and that vaccination with inactivated and live vaccines is cost effective for the health system.

Policy analysis of JE immunization is now in progress in several Asian countries. Policy problems raised in Viet Nam include limited scope of JE vaccination through the national immunization programme, limited funding sources for EPI vaccines, limited age groups covered by JE vaccination, and disparity of locally produced vaccine to GMP requirements. Proposed solutions should include an increased rate of JE vaccination coverage in the country, a broader target age group for JE immunization through EPI, increased funding for JE immunization and reduced user fees for the poor. There is also a need for more data on the feasibility, acceptability and affordability of wide-scale JE vaccination from demonstration projects as well as more data on the economic impact of vaccination from cost-effectiveness studies. Policy analyses completed in China show that JE vaccine is not an EPI vaccine in most provinces and no national JE policy on vaccination indications and schedules exists. Only local vaccines are used in the country and their production does not adhere to GMP. Children are over-vaccinated in some provinces, causing higher than usual rates of side-effects among persons given the inactivated mouse-brain-derived vaccine. Proposed solutions include rationalizing vaccine dosing by specifying a clear national policy for immunization, producing the vaccines at GMP standard, increasing budgets for JE immunization and integrating JE vaccine into national immunization programmes.

7. Discussion and summary of the 2003 Global Vaccine Research Forum

(Meeting co-chairs and secretariat)

The 2003 Global Vaccine Research Forum (GVRF) was special in at least three ways:

1) The Forum was convened in Seoul, Republic of Korea, representing the first time that the meeting was held outside of Switzerland. This increased the opportunity for regional scientists and health authorities to participate. This was met with many favourable comments and enthusiasm to hold future meetings, on occasion,

in other regions of the world on a rotating basis.

- 2) The meeting was planned to juxtapose with the inauguration of the International Vaccine Institute's impressive new building in Seoul.
- 3) For the first time, a session was held that addressed problems of a specific region of the world (Asia). This recognizes that the developing world is heterogeneous with respect to the relative importance of certain public health problems. For example, some infections such as Japanese encephalitis virus infections, dengue haemorrhagic fever and multiple antibiotic-resistant typhoid fever have exceptional importance in much of Asia.

As has become traditional at the GVRF, overview updates were provided on the status of development of vaccines to prevent "the big three", HIV/AIDS, malaria and TB. Notably, because of the site of this year's meeting, in each of these presentations the situation in Asia was emphasized. One special highlight was a detailed summary of the results of the phase III field trial evaluating a gp120 candidate HIV vaccine in Thailand.

Participants also learned of progress in the evolution of the European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP). This new initiative that is coming on line will focus on Africa. It will bring new resources for testing HIV, malaria and TB vaccine candidates, will build clinical trials infrastructure and will train African clinical trialists.

As always at the GVRF, a session was held to provide updates on the specific research activities of special interest and sponsorship of GAVI. Thus the status of the recently commissioned accelerated development and introduction plans (ADIPs) for rotavirus and pneumococcal vaccines were provided. The ADIPs are aiming to establish the value of rotavirus and pneumococcal vaccines through relevant evidence-based surveys and clinical trials, to communicate that value to decision-makers in developing countries, to help quantify the demand for these vaccines and to assure adequate supplies to meet demand. An update was also given on the Meningitis Vaccine Project to develop a meningococcal A conjugate vaccine.

An update was also provided on three "vaccine technologies" that aim to make vaccination simpler, safer and more efficient. These specific technologies include: (a) sugar glassification to make some vaccines resistant to extreme temperatures, thereby diminishing dependence on the over-burdened cold chain; (b) a simple kit to measure tetanus antitoxin in oral fluid (which contains a transudate of serum IgG), as an objective tool to assess vaccine coverage and the efficiency of immunization services; (c) "defangers", simple robust devices that remove potentially infectious needles from syringes, thereby improving the handling of infectious wastes generated by immunization services. In addition, in the GAVI session an update was provided on WHO's initiative to license at least one device to administer a currently licensed measles vaccine by aerosol route. The safety and efficacy (seroconversion) of aerosolized measles vaccine has been established in several settings, including Mexico and South Africa. However, the devices to deliver the vaccine have not been standardized. Much progress has been made in this project.

The keynote lecture shared information on the activities of the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, an entity that has revolutionized research on vaccines to prevent infections of particular importance in populations in developing countries and, through its contributions to the Vaccine Fund, has had a profound impact on the introduction of new vaccines and strengthening immunization services. The fundamental concepts underlying the Foundation's strategy are:

- 1) to bring innovation into context for people in developing countries;
- 2) to provide evidence that what is proposed can be accomplished;
- 3) to focus on results which should be evaluated and accounted for;
- 4) to avoid replacement;
- 5) to promote new partnerships; and
- 6) to build long-term human and institutional capacity.

In broad terms, the Foundation has been supporting vaccine research activities that involve "building it" (i.e., making new vaccine candidates), "proving it" (supporting studies to demonstrate that the vaccines accomplish what they are supposed to do) and "sustaining it" (exploring ways to make the interventions sustainable for developing countries).

A session was held on aspects of clinical trials and regulatory issues of vaccines. A summary was presented of the WHO/IVR meeting in Ghana that addressed ethical issues of performing clinical trials in paediatric subjects in developing countries. New information was provided about the UN agencies prequalification process for new vaccines. This is an important subject as fundamental changes are taking place in the global supply of vaccines for populations in developing countries and the regulatory aspects must keep pace in order to assure that adequate supplies of vaccine are available. An update was provided on the status of licensing procedures for vaccines produced in European Union countries. It was explained that consideration is being given to pass an amendment to existing legislation that would allow the EMEA to give a scientific opinion, in the context of cooperation with WHO, for the assessment of certain biological products for human use that are intended solely for distribution outside the European Community. EMEA would review the product dossier and deliver its technical opinion and would carry out the normal batch release. WHO would help analyse specific-use conditions (e.g. the risk-benefit in the country of destination). Pharmacovigilance and follow-up would be carried out by the NRA of the country of destination. A decision on this legislation is expected in 2004. In another presentation in this session, the FDA's regulatory perspective was provided. Examples were given of the ways in which the FDA actively participates in the international arena. To accelerate introduction and uptake of new vaccines in developing countries, the FDA recognizes several areas that need strengthening by regulatory authorities on the global level. These include:

- 1) a need for more flexible regulatory guidance;
- improved interaction between developers and regulators in early phases of development, and more GMP-quality facilities to produce and characterize vaccines;
- 3) standardization of regulatory practices, e.g. for DNA vaccines;
- 4) mechanisms for assessing risk/benefit in different epidemiological settings; and
- 5) continued evaluation of import/export policies. Another presentation in this session provided a description of the Korean FDA, which was established in 1998 as an independent agency.

In the 2003 Forum's session on cancer vaccines, it was emphasized that several vaccinepreventable cancers caused by viruses or bacteria are disproportionately significant public health burdens in developing countries. These include gastric carcinoma (associated with chronic *Helicobacter pylori* infection), cervical carcinoma (associated with human papillomavirus infection) and hepatocellular carcinoma (a proportion of which are associated with chronic hepatitis C infection). The status of vaccines to prevent *H. pylori*, papillomavirus and hepatitis C infections and thereby to prevent associated cancers was reviewed. Remarkable progress has been made.

Because this GVRF was convened in Asia, another session focused on vaccine-preventable diseases of interest to countries in Asia and the Western Pacific. Among the regional diseases of special importance in the WHO Western Pacific and South-East Asia Regions are dengue fever (particularly dengue haemorrhagic fever), typhoid fever and Japanese encephalitis virus disease. Updates were given on the epidemiological burden of these diseases in Asia and the Western Pacific and the development or introduction of vaccines to prevent these infections.

8. References

- 1) Horwitz MA et al. Recombinant bacillus calmette-guerin (BCG) vaccines expressing the Mycobacterium tuberculosis 30-kDa major secretory protein induce greater protective immunity against tuberculosis than conventional BCG vaccines in a highly susceptible animal model. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 2000, 97:13853–8.
- 2) Horwitz MA, Harth G. A new vaccine against tuberculosis affords greater survival after challenge than the current vaccine in the guinea pig model of pulmonary tuberculosis. *Infection and Immunity*, 2003, 71:1672–9.
- 3) Brooks JV et al. Boosting vaccine for tuberculosis. *Infection and Immunity*, 2001, 69:2714–7.
- 4) Lozes E et al. Immunogenicity and efficacy of a tuberculosis DNA vaccine encoding the components of the secreted antigen 85 complex. *Vaccine*, 1997, 15:830–3.
- 5) McShane H et al. Enhanced immunogenicity of CD4(+) t-cell responses and protective efficacy of a DNA-modified vaccinia virus Ankara prime-boost vaccination regimen for murine tuberculosis. *Infection and Immunity*, 2001, 69:681–6.
- 6) Wang J, Zganiacz A, Xing Z. Enhanced immunogenicity of BCG vaccine by using a viral-based GM-CSF transgene adjuvant formulation. *Vaccine*, 2002, 20:2887–98.
- 7) Martin E et al. The combination of plasmid interleukin-12 with a single DNA vaccine is more effective than Mycobacterium bovis (bacille Calmette-Guerin) in protecting against systemic Mycobacterim avium infection. *Immunology*, 2003, 109:308–14.
- 8) Sacksteder KA, Nancy CA. New tuberculosis vaccine development. Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy, 2002, 2:741–9.
- 9) Cancer Incidence in Five Continents. Vol. VIII. IARC Scientific Publications, 2002:1–781.
- 10) Helicobacter and Cancer Collaborative Group. Gastric cancer and *Helicobacter pylori:* a combined analysis of 12 case control studies nested within prospective cohorts. *Gut*, 2001, 49:347–353
- 11) Huang JQ, Sridhar S, Hunt RH. Role of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in peptic-ulcer disease: a meta-analysis. *Lancet*, 2002, 359:14–22.

- 12) El-Omar EM et al. Increased prevalence of precancerous changes in relatives of gastric cancer patients: critical role of *H. pylori. Gastroenterology*, 2000, 118:22–30.
- 13) Ekstrom AM et al. Dietary antioxidant intake and the risk of cardia cancer and noncardia cancer of the intestinal and diffuse types: a population-based case-control study in Sweden. *International Journal of Cancer*, 2000, 87:133–40.
- Sung JJ et al. Incidence of gastroesophageal malignancy in patients with dyspepsia in Hong Kong: implications for screening strategies. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*, 2001, 54:454–8.
- 15) Wong BC et al. China Gastric Cancer Study Group. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication to prevent gastric cancer in a high-risk region of China: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association*, 2004, 291:187–94.
- 16) Uemura N, Okamoto S. Effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on subsequent development of cancer after endoscopic resection of early gastric cancer in Japan. *Gastroenterology Clinics of North America*, 2000, 29:819–27.
- 17) Rupnow MF et al. Quantifying the population impact of a prophylactic *Helicobacter pylori* vaccine. *Vaccine*, 2001, 20:879–85.
- 18) Michetti P et al. Oral immunization with urease and *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin is safe and immunogenic in *Helicobacter pylori*-infected adults. *Gastroenterology*, 1999, 116:804–12.
- Sougioultzis S et al. Safety and efficacy of *E. coli* enterotoxin adjuvant for urease-based rectal immunization against *Helicobacter pylori*. *Vaccine*, 2002, 21:194–201.
- 20) Di Petrillo MD et al. Safety and immunogenicity of phoP/phoQ-deleted Salmonella typhi expressing Helicobacter pylori urease in adult volunteers. Vaccine, 1999, 18:449–59.
- 21) Bumann D et al. Safety and immunogenicity of live recombinant *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhi Ty21a expressing urease A and B from *Helicobacter pylori* in human volunteers. *Vaccine*, 12 December 2001, 20(5-6):845–52.
- 22) Kotloff KL et al. Safety and immunogenicity of oral inactivated whole-cell *Helicobacter pylori* vaccine with adjuvant among volunteers with or without subclinical infection. *Infection and Immunity*, June 2001, 69(6):3581–90.
- 23) Walboomers JM et al. Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. *The Journal of Pathology*, September 1999, 189(1): 12–9.
- 24) Ebeling F et al. Epidemiology of the hepatitis C virus. Vox sanguinis, 1998, 74 Suppl 2:143–6.
- 25) El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma: an epidemiologic view. Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology, 2002, 35:S72-8.



WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION GENEVA



GLOBAL VACCINE RESEARCH FORUM

30 June - 2 July 2003 Sofitel Hotel, Seoul, Republic of Korea

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

External

Dr Dang Duc Anh

Vice-Director Department of Bacteriology and Immunology **National Institute of Hygiene and Epidemiology** 1 Yersin Street 10 000 Hanoi **Viet Nam**

Dr Abraham Aseffa Armauer Hansen Research Institute (AHRI) P.O. Box 1005 Addis Ababa Ethiopia

Dr Zhi-Sheng Bai Lanzhou Institute of Biological Products A1303 Hong Yuan Buildings Center 4 Jiu Xian Qiao Road, Chao Yang District 100015 Beijing China

Dr Lewellys F. Barker Chief Medical Officer Sequella Global Tuberculosis Foundation 9610 Medical Center Drive, Suite 220 P.O. Box 1067 Rockville 20850 MD USA

Dr Chris Baron Group Vice President, Business Development PowderJect Pharmaceuticals Plc Florey House The Oxford Science Park Oxford, OX4 4GA UK *tel:* +84 4971 6009 *fax:* +84 4 9716 485/821 0853 *e-mail:* ducanhnihe@hn.vnn.vn

tel: 251 1 710 288 *fax:* 251 1 711 390 *e-mail:* aseffaa@yahoo.com

tel: 86 10 64312692 *fax:* 86 10 64312692 *e-mail:* baizs@public.lz.gs.cn

tel: 1 301 762 5548 *fax:* 1 301 762 2122 *e-mail:* lewbarker@sequellafoundation.org

tel: 44 1865 782 845/ 782 800 / 332 640 *fax:* 44 1865 332 677 / 782 801 *e-mail:* chris_baron@powderject.com Dr Jacques Berger Senior Vice President, Corporate Public Policy Aventis Pasteur SA 2 Avenue Pont Pasteur 69367 Lyon Cedex 07 France

Dr Seth Franklyn Berkley

President **The International AIDS Vaccine Initiative** 110 William Street 27th Floor New York 10038-3901 NY **USA**

Dr Sujit Kumar Bhattacharya Director National Institute of Cholera and Enteric Diseases P-33 CIT Road, Scheme XM Beliaghata (P.O. Box 177) Kolkata, West Bengal 700 010 India

Professor Fred Newton Binka INDEPTH Network 9 Adenkum Loop Kanda, Accra Ghana

Dr John Boslego Executive Director Biologics Clinical Research Merck Merck Research Laboratories West Point 19486 PA USA

Dr Robert F. Breiman Associate Director Head, Programme on Infectious Diseases and Vaccine Sciences ICDDR,B – Centre for Health and Population Research GPO Box 128 Mohakhali Dhaka 1000 Bangladesh

Dr Michael Brennan Chief, Laboratory of Mycobacteria Food and Drug Administration (FDA/CBER) Center for Biologics, Evaluation & Research 29 Lincoln Drive, Bldg 29, Room 503, HFM-431 Bethesda MD 20906 USA *tel:* 33 4 3737 7010 *fax:* 33 4 3737 7830 *e-mail:* jacques.berger@aventis.com

tel: 1 212 847 1100 (direct) *fax:* 1 212 847 1112 *e-mail:* sberkley@iavi.org

tel: 91 33 353 7519 *fax:* 91 33 350 5066 *e-mail:* bsujit@vsnl.net or sandip@cal3.vsnl.net.in

tel: 233 21 254 755 *fax:* 233 21 254 752 *e-mail:* fbinka@africaonline.com.gh

tel: +1 610 3977015 or 215652500 *fax:* +1 610 397-3357 *e-mail:* john_boslego@merck.com

tel: 880 2 988 1761 *fax:* 880 2 882 3963 *e-mail:* breiman@icddrb.org

tel: 1 301 496 9559 *fax:* 1 301 435 5675 *e-mail:* brennan@cber.fda.gov

Dr Margaret Burgess

Professor of Pediatrics and Preventative Medicine Director of National Center for Immunization Research and Surveillance **University of Sydney** The Children's Hospital at Westmead Locked Bag 4001 Westmead, NSW 2145

Australia

Dr Concepcion Campa-Huergo

President Center for Research-Production of Vaccines and Sera **Finlay Institute** Avenue 27, No. 19805 La Lisa, A.P. 16017, CP 11600 La Habana **Cuba**

Professor Saibua B. Chichareon

Associate Professor Gynecologic Oncology Unit, Dept. of Obstetrics and Gynecology Faculty of Medicine **Prince of Songkla University** Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112 **Thailand**

Dr Chetan Chitnis International Center for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology P.O. Box 10504 Aruna Asaf Ali Marg New Delhi 110067 India

Dr Sang-Nae Cho Associate Professor Yonsei University College of Medicine Department of Microbiology 134 Shinchon dong Seoul 120 752 Korea, Rep. of

Dr John Clemens Director International Vaccine Institute Kwanak P.O.Box 14 Kwanak-Ku Seoul 151-600 Korea, Rep. of *tel:* 61 2 98 45 30 69 *fax:* 61 2 9845 30 82 *e-mail:* margarb1@chw.edu.au

tel: 53 7 208 6086 or 208 0976 *fax:* 53 7 208 6075 *e-mail:* ccampa@finlay.edu.cu

tel: 66 74 451201 *fax:* 66 74 429617, 66 74 212912 *e-mail:* Csaibua@ratree.psu.ac.th

tel: 91 11 618 7695 *fax:* 91 11 2616 2316 *e-mail:* cchitnis@icgeb.res.in

tel: +822 361 5282 *fax:* +822 392 9310 *e-mail:* raycho@yonsei.ac.kr

tel: 82 2 872 2801 *fax:* 82 2 872 2803 *e-mail:* jclemens@ivi.int

Dr Michel De Wilde Executive Vice President Research and Development Aventis Pasteur Discovery Drive Swiftwater PA 18370 USA

Dr Giuseppe Del Giudice Chiron

Divisione Biologici et Farmaceutici Via Fiorentina 1 53100 Siena Italy

Dr Carter Diggs Senior Technical Advisor USAID, USA Room 3.07-013 1300 Pennsylvania Avenue Washington D.C. 20523-3700 USA

Dr Roland Dobbelaer Head of Biological Standardization Scientific Institute of Public Health Louis Pasteur 14, Rue Juliette Wytsman 1050 Brussels Belgium

Professor Gordon Dougan Centre for Molecular Microbiology and Infection Department of Biological Sciences Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine Exhibition Road London SW15 1QD United Kingdom

Dr Mohamed El-Abadi Chief Executive Officer Vacsera Egyptian Organization for Biological Products and Vaccines 51 Wezaret El Zeraa Street Agouza Giza Egypt

Dr Krishna Ella Bharat Biotech International Ltd 726 Venkateswara Hills Road No.3, Banjara Hills Hyderabad 500 034 India *tel:* 1 (570) 839 4204 *fax:* 1 (570) 839 5690 *e-mail:* michel.dewilde@aventis.com

tel: 39 05 77 24 32 61 *fax:* 39 05 77 24 35 64 *e-mail:* giuseppe_del_giudice@chiron.it

tel: 1 202 712 5728 *fax:* 1 202 216 3702 *e-mail:* cdiggs@usaid.gov

tel: 32 2 642 5111 *fax:* 32 2 642 52 10 *e-mail:* r.dobbelaer@iph.fgov.be

tel: 44 207 594 5256 *fax:* 44 207 594 3069 *e-mail:* g.dougan@imperial.ac.uk

tel: 202 336 9872 o 202 761 1111 *fax:* 002027609177 *e-mail:* ceo@vacsera.com

tel: 91 40 3356388 *fax:* 91 40 335 0344 *e-mail:* ellakrishna@yahoo.com Dr Elaine C. Esber Executive Director Medical Affairs International Merck & Co., Inc. 770 Sumneytown Pike West Point 19486 PA USA

Dr Mark Fletcher Associate Director International Scientific Affairs, Vaccines Wyeth Research Le Wilson II 80 avenue du Géneral de Gaulle Paris la Défense 92031 Puteaux France

Professor David Forman Cancer and Epidemiology Epidemiology and Health Services Research University of Leeds Arlington House Cookridge Hospital Leeds LS16 6QB United Kingdom

Dr Donald P. Francis President VaxGen, Inc. 1000 Marina Blvd Brisbane, CA 94044 USA

Dr Ruth Frischer Health Science Specialist **USAID** G/PHN/CS Ronald Reagan Building, Room 3.07-070 1300 Pennsylvania Avenue Washington, D.C. 20523 **USA**

Dr Nirmal Kumar Ganguly Director-General Indian Council of Medical Research Ansari Nagar Post Box 4911 New Delhi 110029 India *tel:* 1 215 652 8828 *fax:* 1 215 652 8918 *e-mail:* elaine_esber@merck.com

tel: 33 1 41 02 79 57 *fax:* 33 1 41 02 75 34 *e-mail:* FletchM@.wyeth.com

tel: 44 113 392 4309 *fax:* 44 113 392 4178 *e-mail:* d.forman@leeds.ac.uk

tel: 1 650 624 1027 *fax:* 1 650 624 1019 *e-mail:* DFrancis@vaxgen.com

tel: 1 202 712 0771 *fax:* 1 202 216 3702 *e-mail:* rfrischer@usaid.gov

tel: 91 11 2 6517204/696 7620 *fax:* 91 11 6868662 *e-mail:* gangulynk@icmr.delhi.nic.in Professor Marc Girard Fondation Merieux 17 rue Bourgelat 69002 Lyon France

Dr Roger Glass Chief of Viral Gastroenteritis Section Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Mailstop G04 1600 Clifton Road Atlanta, GA 30333 USA

Dr Reinhard Glück Director R&D Swiss Serum & Vaccine Institute (Berna) P.O. Box CH 3001 Berne Switzerland

Dr Tore Godal Executive Secretary GAVI Secretariat c/o UNICEF Palais des Nations 5-7 avenue de la Paix 1211 Geneva 10 Switzerland

Professor Michael Good The Queensland Institute of Medical Research The Bancroft Centre, Royal Brisbane Hospital 300 Herston Road, Brisbane Queensland 4029 **Australia**

Dr Dan M. Granoff Senior Research Scientist Children's Hospital Oakland Research Institute 5700 Martin Luther King Jr. Way Oakland California 94609 USA

Dr Michel Greco 9 chemin fleuri 69110 Sainte-Foy-les Lyon France

Dr Scott B. Halstead Dept. of Preventive Medicine & Biostatistics Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences 5824 Edson Lane N. Bethesda, MD 20852 USA *tel:* 33 4 72407942 *fax:* 33 4 37282321 *e-mail:* marc.girard@fond-merieux.org

tel: 1 404 639 3579 *fax:* 1 404 639 3645 *e-mail:* rglass@cdc.gov

tel: 41 31 980 6500 *fax:* 41 31 980 6785 *e-mail:* reinhard.glueck@bernabiotech.com

tel: 41 22 909 5020/41 79 290 2405 fax: 41 22 909 5900/41 22 909 5931 e-mail: tgodal@unicef.org

tel: 617 3362 0203 *fax:* 617 3362 0110 *e-mail:* michaelG@qimr.edu.au

tel: 1510 450 7640 *fax:* 1 510 450 7915 *e-mail:* dgranoff@chori.org

tel: +33 6 07 31 75 43 (mobile) *fax:* +33 4 78 51 86 56 *e-mail:* grecomi@wanadoo.fr

tel: 1 240 463 2930 *fax:* 1 301 984 8042 *e-mail:* halsteads@erols.com Dr Chris Hentschel Chief Executive Officer New Medicines for Malaria Venture 3rd floor, ICC Building Route de Pré-Bois, 20 1215 Geneva 15 Switzerland

Dr Luis Herrera Martinez General Director Centro de Ingenieria Genetica y Biotecnologia Ave. 31 e/ 158 y 190 Cubanacan Habana 10600 Cuba

Professor Dr Arnd Hoeveler Head of Unit office SDME 7/31 **European Commission** DG Research Rue de la Loi 200 B 1049 Bruxelles **Belgium**

Professor Jan Holmgren University of Göteborg Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology Box 435 40530 Göteborg Sweden

Dr Andreas Holtel Poverty Linked Diseases Unit European Commission F3 / SDME 7/36 Square de Mêus Brussels B-1050 Belgium

Dr Joachim Hombach GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals 89 Rue de l'Institut 1330 Rixensart Belgium

Dr Akira Homma Director Bio-Manguinhos Oswaldo Cruz Foundation Av. Brasil 4.365 - Manguinhos Rio de Janeiro 21045-900, RJ Brazil *tel:* 41 22 799 40 62 *fax:* 41 22 799 40 61 *e-mail:* hentschelc@mmv.org

tel: 53 7 21 6013/6613 *fax:* 53 7 33 6008 *e-mail:* Luis.Herrera@cigb.edu.cu

tel: 32 2 295 68 01 *fax:* 32 2 295 5365 *e-mail:* arnd.hoeveler@cec.eu.int

tel: 46 31 342 4911 *fax:* 46 31 82 01 60 *e-mail:* Jan.Holmgren@microbio.gu.se

tel: 32 2 295 3716 *fax:* 32 2 2955365 *e-mail:* andreas.holtel@cec.eu.int

tel: 32 2 656 7080 *fax:* 32 2 656 8145 *e-mail:* joachim.hombach@gskbio.com

tel: 55 21 3882 9305 *fax:* 55 21 2260 4727 *e-mail:* akira@bio.fiocruz.br Dr Michael Houghton Vice-President HCV Research CHIRON The Biocine Company 4560 Horton Street Emeryville CA 94608 2916 USA

Professor Asma Ismail

Director Centre for Medical Innovations and Technology Development (MITD) Health Campus **University Sains Malaysia** 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan **Malaysia**

Dr Suresh Jadhav

Executive Director (Q.A.) Serum Institute of India Ltd. 212/2, Hadapsar Pune 411 028 India

Dr Soren Jepsen Manager, EMVI Statens Seruminstitut European Malaria Vaccine Initiative Artillerivej 5 DK - 2300-5 Copenhagen Denmark

Dr Luis Jodar Associate Director for Programmes, Institutional Development and Partnerships International Vaccine Institute Kwanak P.O.Box 14 Kwanak-Ku Seoul 151-600 Korea, Rep. of

Dr Anders Kärnell Head of European Medical Affairs PowderJect Pharmaceuticals plc SE-105 21 Stockholm Sweden

Dr David Kaslow VICAL 9373 Towne Centre Drive, Suite 100 San Diego, CA 92121 USA *tel:* 1 510 923 2444 *fax:* 1 978 359 8316 *e-mail:* michael_houghton@chiron.com

tel: 609 7642286 *fax:* 609 7648673 *e-mail:* asma@kb.usm.my

tel: 91 20 699 3900 extn 2378 *fax:* 91 20 699 3945 *e-mail:* ssj@vsnl.com

tel: 45 3268 3188 *fax:* 45 3268 3228 *e-mail:* sje@ssi.dk

tel: 82 2 880 80 14 *fax:* 82 2 8722803 *e-mail:* ljodar@ivi.int

tel: 46 8 7351172 *fax:* 46 8 834174 *e-mail:* anders.karnell@powderject.com

tel: 1 858 646 11 00 *fax:* 1 858 646 11 50 *e-mail:* dkaslow@vical.com Dr Wenceslaus Kilama Chairman & Coordinator African Malaria Vaccine Testing Network Tanzania Commission for Science & Technology Building C26/27 Ali Hassan Mwinyi Road P.O. Box 33207 Dar-Es-Salam Tanzania

Dr Kyungho Kim Director Head of Domestic Affairs GreenCross Vaccine Corporation 303 Bojung-Ri Koosung-Eup 449-770 Yongin Korea, Rep. of

Dr Scott Kitchener Medical Advisor Research and Medical Affairs Acambis Inc 100 Fulbourn Road Cambridge CB1 7UE UK

Dr Richard D. Klausner Executive Director Global Health Programs Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation PO Box 6176 Ben Franklin Station Washington DC 20044 USA

Dr Michel Klein Chief Executive Officer Canadian Network for Vaccines and Immunothetapeutics (CANVAC) 500 Sherbrooke Street West, Suite 800 Montreal Quebec, H3A 3C6 Canada Professor Karen L. Kotloff Chief, Domestic Epidemiological Studies Section University of Maryland School of Medicine Center for Vaccine Development 685 West Baltimore Street, Room 480 Baltimore MD 21201 USA *tel:* 255 22 2700018 *fax:* 255 22 2700380 *e-mail:* wkilama@africaonline.co.tz

tel: 82 31 260 9547 *fax:* 82 31 260 9400 / 9401 *e-mail:* khkim1@greencrossvaccine.com

tel: 44 1223 275 300 *fax:* 44 1223 416300 *e-mail:* scott.kitchener@Acambis.com

tel: 1 202 879 8130 fax: e-mail: rick@gatesfoundation.org

tel: +1 514 288 7120 *fax:* +1 514 288 6571 *e-mail:* michel.klein@umontreal.ca

tel: 1 410 706 5328 *fax:* 1 410 706 6205 *e-mail:* kkotloff@medicine.umaryland.edu Dr Ichiro Kurane Director Department of Virology 1 National Institute of Infectious Diseases 1-23-1 Toyama Shinjuku-Ku Tokyo 162-8640 Japan

Dr John R. La Montagne Deputy Director National Institutes of Health National Institute of Allergy & Infectious Diseases 9000 Rockville Pike Building 31, Room 7A-03 Bethesda, MD 20892 USA

Dr Rosanna Lagos Coordinadora CVD Hospital de Niños Roberto del Rio Avenida Zanartu 1085 (4 Piso) Independencia Santiago Chile

Professor Paul-Henri Lambert Center of Vaccinology **Centre Médical Universitaire** 1, rue Michel-Servet 1211 Genève 4 **Switzerland**

Dr Claudio F. Lanata Instituto de Investigación Nutritional La Molina, Apartado Postal 18 0191 Miraflores Lima 18 Peru

Dr Mary Ann Lansang Executive Director INCLEN Trust Section E (Executive Office) 5/F Ramon Magsaysay Center 1680 Roxas Boulevard, Malate Manila 1004 Philippines

Professor Myron Levine Center for Vaccine Development University of Maryland School of Medicine HSF 480 685 W. Baltimore Street Baltimore 21201 MD USA *tel:* 81 35 285 1111 *fax:* 81 35 285 1169 *e-mail:* kurane@nih.go.jp

tel: 1 301 496 9677 *fax:* 1 301 493 0599 or 496 4409 *e-mail:* jm79q@nih.gov

tel: 562 735 7263 562 737 5022 *fax:* 562 777 5766 *e-mail:* rlagos@adsl.tie.cl

tel: 41 22 702 5783/5777 *fax:* 41 22 702 5801 *e-mail:* Paul.Lambert@medicine.unige.ch

tel: 51.1349 6023/6024 *fax:* 51.1349 6025 *e-mail:* clanata@iin.sld.pe

tel: 632 521 3166 to 3185 (loc. 159) *fax:* 632 400 4374 *e-mail:* mlansang@inclentrust.org

tel: 1 410 706 7588 *fax:* 1 410 706 6205 *e-mail:* mlevine@medicine.umaryland.edu Dr Orin Levine Epidemiologist Department of International Health John Hopkins School of Public Health 621 N. Washington Street Baltimore 21205 MD USA

Dr Margaret Liu

Vice-Chairman Transgene 11, rue de Molsheim, 67082 Strasbourg Cedex France

Dr Chris Loffredo

Director Clinical and Molecular Epidemiology Shared Resource Dept of Oncology, Cancer Genetics and Epidemiology **Georgetown University** Box 571472 Lombardi Cancer Centre 3800 Resevoir Road Washington DC 20057 - 1472 **USA**

Dr Richard T. Mahoney IPR in Health R&D 53 Gambel Lane Sedona Arizona 86336 USA

Dr William Makgoba President Medical Research Council of South Africa P.O. Box 19070 Tygerberg 7505 South Africa

Mr Jacques-Francois Martin Président The Vaccine Fund 36, Quai Fulchiron 69005 Lyon France

Dr Abdullah Marzuki President Director PT. Bio Farma (Persero) Jl. Pasteur 28 Bandung 40161 Indonesia *tel:* 1 410 614-3806 (direct) 955-6931 *fax:* 1 410 955-2010 *e-mail:* olevine@jhsph.edu

tel: 33 3 88 27 91 22 *fax:* 33 3 88 27 91 11 *e-mail:* liu@transgene.fr

tel: 1 202-687-3758 *fax:* 1 202-784-3034 *e-mail:* cal9@georgetown.edu

tel: +1 928 203 0141 *fax:* +1 928 222 0074 *e-mail:* richard.mahoney@asu.edu

tel: 27 21 938 0211/0240 *fax:* 27 21 938 0201 *e-mail:* malegapuru.makgoba@mrc.ac.za

tel: 33 4 725 673 10 *fax:* 33 4 78 42 34 24 *e-mail:* jfmartin@vaccinefund.org

tel: 62 22 2033 755 - 757 *fax:* 62 22 204 1306 *e-mail:* marzuki@biofarma.co.id Mr Shaun Mellors Team Leader International Council of AIDS Service Organizations (ICASO) 65 Wellesley St. E, Suite 403 Toronto, Ontario M4Y 1G7 Canada

Dr Mark Miller Associate Director for Research Fogarty International Center National Institutes of Health 31 Center Drive, Building 31 Room B2C202 Bethesda 20892 MD USA

Dr Julie Milstien Résidence Parc de Clémentville 3 bis rue de Coranilles 34070 Montpellier France

Professor Graham Mitchell Principal Foursight Associates Pty Ltd Richard Allen Building, level 2 164 Flinders Lane Melbourne 3000 Victoria Australia

Dr Ricardo Montero Director Business Development and Commercialization Finlay Institute Avenida 27 No. 19805 La Lisa, AP 1601 La Habana CP 11600 Cuba

Dr An Chang Nam Director Head of Regulatory Affairs Greencross Vaccine Corporation 227-3 Kugal-Ri Kiheung-Eup Yongin City Kyunggi-Do 449-900 Korea, Rep. of *tel:* 1 416 921 0018 ext:18 *fax:* 1 416 921 9979 *e-mail:* shaunm@icaso.org

tel: 1 301 496 0815 *fax:* 1 301 496 8496 *e-mail:* millermark@nih.gov

tel: 33 467 06 5779 e-mail: julie.milstien@laposte.net

tel: 61 3 9288 5414 *fax:* 61 3 9288 5362 *e-mail:* graham.mitchell@foursight.com.au

tel: 53 7 336754 *fax:* 53 7 2086075 *e-mail:* rmontero@finlay.edu.cu

tel: 82 31 280 6251 *fax:* 82 31 280 6239 *e-mail:* cnan@greencrossvaccine.com Dr Ananda Nisalak Head, Arbovirology Section Armed Forces Research Institute of Medical Sciences 315/6 Rajvithi Road Bangkok 10400 Thailand

Professor Francis Nkrumah Noguchi Memorial Institute for Medical Research University of Ghana Medical School P.O. Box LG 581 Legon Ghana

Sir Gustav J.V. Nossal Professor Emeritus Department of Pathology University of Melbourne Parkville Victoria 3010 Australia

Dr Ariel Pablos-Mendez Team Director The Rockefeller Foundation 420 Fifth Avenue New York N.Y. 10018 USA

Dr Irene Perez-Schael Chief of Section Instituto de Biomedicina Apartado 4043 Carmelitas Caracas 1010A Venezuela

Dr Punnee Pitisuttithum Faculty of Tropical Medicine Mahidol University 420/6 Rajvithi Road Phayathai Bangkok 10400 Thailand

Dr C.S. (Cyrus) Poonawalla Chairman Serum Institute of India Research Foundation 212/2 Hadapsar Pune 411 028 Maharashtra India *tel:* 662 644 4674 *fax:* 662 644 4760 *e-mail:* anandan@amedd.army.mil

tel: 233 21 50 11 78/9 *fax:* 233 21 50 21 82 *e-mail:* Fnkrumah@noguchi.mimcom.net

tel: 61 3 8344 6946 *fax:* 61 3 8347 5242 *e-mail:* gnossal@maconline.com.au

tel: 1 212-852 8322 *fax:* 1 212-852 8279 *e-mail:* apablos-mendez@rockfound.org

tel: 58 212 8630568 / 8641007 *fax:* 58 212 861 1258 *e-mail:* iperez@telcel.net.ve

tel: 66 2 643 5599 *fax:* 66 2 643 5598 *e-mail:* tmppt@mahidol.ac.th

tel: 91 20 699 3939/00 *fax:* 91 20 699 3921 *e-mail:* cspoonawalla@hotmail.com

Dr Marie-José Quentin-Millet

Chef de Service, Vice President R&D Aventis Pasteur SA Campus Mérieux 1541 avenue Marcel Mérieux Marcy l'Etoile Cedex 69280 France

Dr Regina Rabinovich Director Infectious Diseases, Global Health Program Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation P.O. Box 23350 Seattle 98102 WA USA

Dr Rino Rappuoli Head of Research Production of Vaccines Chiron Behring Via Fiorentina 1 53100 Siena Italy

Professor Isaias Raw President DCVMN Instituto / Fundacao Butantan Av. Vital Brazil 1500 São Paulo 05503-900 Brazil

Dr K.I. Varaprasad Reddy Managing Director Shantha Biotechnics Private Ltd. Serene Chambers, 3rd Floor Road No. 7 Banjara Hills Hyderabad 500 034 India

Dr Swarup Sakar Intercountry Technical Advisor UNAIDS c/o UNDCP, EP-16/17 Chandragupta Marg. Chanakyapuri New Delhi 10003 India

Dr George Slama The WHO Representative in the Republic of Korea The 2nd Government Unified Office Building - Room N°306 1, Chungang Dong Kwachon City 427-760 Kyonggido Seoul Korea, Rep. of *tel:* 33 4 37 373577 *fax:* 33 4 37 37 3976 *e-mail:* marie-jose.quentin-millet@aventis.com

tel: 1 206 709 3490 *fax:* 1 206 709 3170 *e-mail:* regina@gatesfoundation.org

tel: 39 0577.243.414 *fax:* 39 0577 243 564 *e-mail:* rino_rappuoli@chiron.it

tel: 55 11 3726 3790 *fax:* 55 11 3726 1505 *e-mail:* iraw@butantan.gov.br

tel: 91 40 678 8880 *fax:* 91 40 354 1713 *e-mail:* varaprasad@shanthabiotech.com

tel: 91 11 410 3575/4970 to 73 *fax: e-mail:* s_sarkar@who.org

tel: 82 2 503 7533 *fax:* 82 2 502 7818 *e-mail:* clokor@kor.wpro.who.int Dr Yeowon Sohn Chief, Division of Biotechnology Department of Biologics Evaluation Korea Food and Drug Administration (KFDA) 5 Nokbun-Dong Eunpyung-Ku Seoul 122-74 Korea, Rep. of

Dr Aldo Tagliabue Deputy Director for Laboratory Research International Vaccine Institute Kwanak P.O. Box 14 Seoul 151-600 Korea Korea, Rep. of

Dr Keiko Taya Chief of the Immunization Program Division Infectious Diseases Surveillance Center National Institute of Infectious Diseases 1-23-1 Toyama Shinjuku-Ku Tokyo 162-8640 Japan

Dr Nadia Tornieporth Research and Development GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals 89 rue de l'Institut 1330 Rixensart Belgium

Professor Dang Duc Trach Director, National Programme of Immunization **National Institute of Hygiene and Epidemology** 1, Yersin Street Hanoi 10 000 **Viet Nam**

Professor Britta Wahren Swedish Institute for Infectious Disease Control Department of Virology Microbiology and Tumorbiology Center Tomtebodaväg 30B 17182 Stockholm Sweden *tel:* 82 2 380 1739 *fax:* 82 2 383 8322 *e-mail:* ywsohn@kfda.go.kr

tel: 82 2 872 2801 *fax:* 82 2 872 2803 *e-mail:* atagliabue@ivi.int

tel: 81 3 5285 1111(ext 2536) *fax:* 81 3 5285 1129 *e-mail:* ktaya@nih.go.jp

tel: 32 2 656 8974 *fax:* 32 2 656 6160 *e-mail:* nadia.tornieporth@gskbio.com

tel: 84 4 971 2989 *fax:* 84 4 821 2660 *e-mail:* trach@fpt.vn

tel: 46 8 45 2300 *fax:* 46 8 33 7272 *e-mail:* britta.wahren@smi.ki.se Dr Roy Widdus Manager Global Forum for Health Research Initiative on Public-Private Partnerships for Health (IPPPH) International Center Cointrin (ICC) Block G, 3rd floor 20 Route de Pré-Bois C.P. 1826 1215 Geneva 15 Switzerland

Professor Hans Wigzell University of Lund Microbiology and Tumorbiology Center Doktorssringen 13 SE-171-77 Stockholm Sweden

Dr Zhi-Yi Xu International Vaccine Institute Kwanak P.O. Box 14 Seoul 151-600 Korea, Rep. of

Dr Sutee Yoksan Director Centre for Vaccine Development Mahidol University Inst. of Science & Technology for Research & Dev. 25/25 Phutthamonthon 4 Salaya Nakornpathom 73170 Thailand *tel:* 46 8 728 66 80 *fax:* 46 8 32 88 78 *e-mail:* Hans.Wigzell@mtc.ki.se

tel: 41 22 799 4086/4088

e-mail: roy.widdus@ippph.org

fax: 41 22 799 4089

tel: 82 2 872 2926 *fax:* 82 2 872 2803 *e-mail:* xuzhiyi@ivi.org

tel: 662 441 0190 *fax:* 662 441 9336 *e-mail:* grsys@mahidol.ac.th

WHO Staff

Dr M. Teresa Aguado Coordinator, Research on Bacterial Vaccines Iniative for Vaccine Research Vaccines and Biologicals World Health Organization 20 Ave Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

tel: 41 22 791 2644 *fax:* 41 22 791 4860 *e-mail:* aguadom@who.ch **Dr Thomas Cherian** Research on Bacterial Vaccines Iniative for Vaccine Research Vaccines and Biologicals **World Health Organization** Ave Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 **Switzerland**

Dr Nora Dellepiane Access to Technologies Vaccines and Biologicals World Health Organization 20 Ave Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Dr Jose Esparza Coordinator, Research on Viral Vaccines Iniative for Vaccine Research Vaccines and Biologicals World Health Organization Ave Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Ms Nadia Fisher Iniative for Vaccine Research **World Health Organization** Ave Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 **Switzerland**

Dr Ana Maria Henao-Restrepo Research on Bacterial Vaccines Iniative for Vaccine Research Vaccines and Biologicals World Health Organization Ave Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Dr Marie-Paule Kieny Director, Initiative for Vaccine Research Vaccines & Biologicals World Health Organization Ave Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland *tel:* 41 22 791 4460 *fax:* 41 22 791 4860 *e-mail:* cheriant@who.int

tel: 41 22 791 4788 *fax:* 41 22 791 4384 *e-mail:* dellepianen@who.int

tel: 41 22 791 4392 *fax:* 41 22 791 4165 *e-mail:* esparzaj@who.int

tel: 41 22 791 4395 *fax:* 41 22 791 4860 *e-mail:* fishern@who.int

tel: 41 22 791 3402 *fax:* 41 22 791 4860 *e-mail:* henaorestrepoa@who.int

tel: 41 22 791 3591/4395 *fax:* 41 22 791 4860 *e-mail:* kienym@who.int Dr Farrokh Modabber RCS Tropical Disease Research Communicable Diseases World Health Organization Centre Casai 53 Avenue Louis-Casai 1216 Geneva Switzerland

Dr Ali Mohammadi Product Research Development Tropical Disease Research Communicable Diseases World Health Organization Centre Casai 53 Avenue Louis-Casai 1216 Geneva Switzerland

Dr Saladin Osmanov Research on Viral Vaccines Iniative for Vaccine Research Vaccines and Biologicals **World Health Organization** Ave Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 **Switzerland**

Dr Sonia Pagliusi Research on Bacterial Vaccines Iniative for Vaccine Research Vaccines and Biologicals **World Health Organization** Ave Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 **Switzerland**

Dr Rob Ridley Coordinator, Product Research and Development Tropical Disease Research Communicable Diseases World Health Organization Centre Casai 53 Avenue Louis-Casai 1216 Geneva Switzerland

Dr Yupaporn Wattanagoon Research on Parasitics and Other Pathogens Iniative for Vaccine Research Vaccines and Biologicals World Health Organization Ave Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland *tel:* 41 22 791 1542 *fax:* 41 22 791 4854 *e-mail:* modabberf@who.int

tel: 41 22 791 1804 *fax:* 41 22 791 4854 *e-mail:* mohammadia@who.int

tel: 41 22 791 4393 *fax:* 41 22 791 4865 *e-mail:* osmanovs@who.int

tel: 41 22 791 4265 *fax:* 41 22 791 4860 *e-mail:* pagliusis@who.int

tel: 41 22 791 3767 *fax:* 41 22 791 4854 *e-mail:* ridleyr@who.ch

tel: 41 22 791 1501 *fax:* 41 22 791 4210 *e-mail:* wattanagoony@who.ch Dr Daniel Tarantola Director, Vaccines and Biologicals World Health Organization Ave Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

tel: 41 22 791 2779 *fax: e-mail:* tarantolad@who.int

Regional Offices

United Nations Avenue

P.O. Box 2932 1000 Manila **Philippines**

Representative **Regional Office, AFRO** tel: fax: e-mail: Representative **Regional Office, EMRO** tel: fax: e-mail: Representative **Regional Office, EURO** tel: fax: e-mail: **Dr Salvador Garcia Regional Office for the Americas** tel: World Health Organization fax: Washington DC e-mail: USA Representative **Regional Office, SEARO** tel: fax: e-mail: **Dr Osman David Mansoor** Scientist, New Vaccines Regional Office for the Western Pacific **World Health Organization**

tel: 632 528 9748 *fax:* 632 526 0279 or 0362 *e-mail:* mansooro@who.org.ph mansooro@wpro.who.int